

# Trafford Council Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026

# **Table of Contents**

TRAFFORD COUNCIL STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2021-2026	2
1.0 INTRODUCTION	6
Trafford Council Corporate Plan 2018-22	7
2.0 PURPOSE	8
3.0 AUTHORITY PROFILE	10
4.0 APPLICATIONS	12
CONSULTATION REPRESENTATIONS. PUBLIC HEALTH REPRESENTATIONS DETERMINATION	15 16
VARIATIONS	
PETITIONS	
6.0 DETERMINING APPLICATIONS	
LICENSING OBJECTIVES PREMISES LICENCES PUBLIC HEALTH MINOR VARIATIONS	20 21
7.0 PROMOTING THE FOUR LICENSING OBJECTIVES	25
CAPACITY	27
8.0 PREVENTION OF CRIME AND DISORDER	29
OLD TRAFFORD STADIUM	36
9.0 PUBLIC SAFETY	37
MEDICAL RESOURCE	41
10.0 PREVENTION OF PUBLIC NUISANCE	42
11.0 PROTECTION OF CHILDREN FROM HARM	48
CHILDREN AND PUBLIC ENTERTAINMENTS	
12.0 SEX ESTABLISHMENT VENUES	56
13.0 PROMOTION OF OTHER STRATEGIES	57
REDUCING THE STRENGTH	
14.0 CONDITIONS	59
Mandatory conditions	
15.0 STRATEGIC LINKS	64
TOURISM, CULTURE AND EMPLOYMENT  CRIME AND DISORDER.  ALCOHOL	64 65

DrugsANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR	
16.0 OTHER REGULATORY SYSTEMS	
PLANNING CONTROL	70
BUILDING CONTROL	71
HEALTH AND SAFETY AT WORK	
STATUTORY NUISANCEFIRE PRECAUTIONS	
THE EQUALITY ACT 2010	
HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998	
THE GOVERNMENT'S ALCOHOL STRATEGY	
17.0 CUMULATIVE IMPACT	
SPECIAL LICENSING POLICY	
18.0 LATE-NIGHT LEVY	79
19.0 EARLY MORNING ALCOHOL RESTRICTION ORDER (EMRO)	80
20.0 PERSONAL LICENCES	81
21.0 POLICY CONSULTATION	84
22.0 MONITORING AND REVIEW OF LICENSING POLICY	85
23.0 TEMPORARY EVENT NOTICES (TEN'S)	86
24.0 LARGER EVENTS	88
25.0 ENFORCEMENT	90
26.0 REVIEWS	92
27.0 APPEALS	94
28.0 NUDITY AND ADULT ENTERTAINMENT	95
29.0 AUTHORISATION	97
30.0 NON-STANDARD HOURS	98
31.0 SMOKING - HEALTH ACT 2006	99
32.0 LICENSING HOURS	100
33.0 ADMINISTRATION, EXERCISE AND DELEGATION OF FUNCTIONS	
34.0 THE ROLE OF WARD COUNCILLORS	106
35.0 APPLICATION CONSULTATION	107
36.0 PROVISIONAL STATEMENTS	109
37.0 FILM CLASSIFICATION	110
38.0 SUSPENSION OF LICENCES AND CERTIFICATES FOR NON-PAYMENT OF ANNUAL FEES	
39.0 IMMIGRATION ACT 2016	113
40.0 OTHER REFERENCES & GUIDANCE	
41.0 PRE-APPLICATION CONSULTATION SERVICE	116
DISCLAIMER	
Make a request for pre-application advice	118

42.0 CONTACT DETAILS	119
43.0 LATE NIGHT REFRESHMENT - LOCAL POWERS TO DEREGULATE	120
44.0 OUTSIDE SPACE	121
TABLES AND CHAIRS ON THE PUBLIC HIGHWAY	
APPENDIX A: CURRENT MANDATORY CONDITIONS	
APPENDIX B: LOCAL AUTHORITIES BORDERING THE TRAFFORD AREA	
APPENDIX C: LICENSING ACT 2003 MODEL CONDITIONS	130
Counter Terrorism	130
ADMISSION AND CONTROL OF ENTRY	131
Door supervisors	132
BODYCAMS	134
CCTV	136
PREVENTING ILLEGAL DRUG USE	137
PROMOTIONAL ACTIVITY	137
INCIDENT REPORTING	138
STAFF TRAINING (ALCOHOL & VULNERABILITY WELFARE)	139
PREVENTING AND DEALING WITH DRUNKENNESS AND VULNERABILITY	
OFF LICENCES AND REDUCING NUISANCE ASSOCIATED TO ILLEGAL STREET DRINKING (PUBLIC SPACE	S
PROTECTION ORDER)	
GLASSWARE AND USE OF ICE FOUNTAINS / BOTTLE SPARKLERS	
PREVENTING UNDERAGE SALES	
ALCOHOL DELIVERIES	
RESTAURANTS AND TAKEAWAYS (ALCOHOL)	
RESTRICTING ALCOHOL SALES IN RELATION TO DESIGNATED SPECIAL EVENTS, E.G. FOOTBALL MATCH	
Use of special effects	
EMERGENCIES	
PREVENTING NOISE AND OTHER PUBLIC NUISANCES	
Deliveries (nuisance)	
SMOKING AND OTHER EXTERNAL AREAS	
LITTER AND CLEANSING	
CHILDREN ON THE PREMISES	
LATE NIGHT REFRESHMENT	
LARGE EVENTS	
BOXING AND WRESTLING (INCLUDING MMA AND OTHER COMBAT SPORTS)	
ADULT ENTERTAINMENT	
DISPERSAL	
APPENDIX D: SCHEME OF DELEGATIONS	
APPENDIX E: RESPONSIBLE AUTHORITIES	
APPENDIX F: POLICY CONSULTATION LIST	161
COUNCIL CONSULTEES	
PODDEDING AUTHODITIES	100

#### 1.0 Introduction

- **1.1** Trafford Council is the Licensing Authority under the Licensing Act 2003 (the Act). The Licensing Authority must have regard to this policy when carrying out its functions under the Act.
- **1.2** The Act requires that the Licensing Authority must publish this statement of licensing policy in respect of each five-year period. This policy will be used as a guide when making decisions regarding licensing matters such as determining applications for licenses. The Licensing Authority makes this statement of licensing policy in accordance with Section 5 of the Act.
- 1.3 This policy comes into force on 7<sup>th</sup> January 2021 and will remain in force for a period not exceeding five years and will be subject to review and further consultation before 7<sup>th</sup> January 2026. The Council will keep the policy under review, making any amendments as it considers appropriate to support licensing objectives, in particular the Special Licensing Policy on Cumulative Impact will be reviewed at a three-year period in accordance with S182 Guidance. All reviews will be subject to further consultation with all stakeholders and any revised policy will be published.
- **1.4** The revised policy has been subject to consultation. A detailed list of those that have been consulted is included at **Appendix G**. The act requires the Council to consult various bodies, to meet that requirement; the following Responsible Authorities have been consulted:
  - the Chief Officer of Police;
  - the Fire Authority;
  - the local enforcing authority for the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 (the Council's Environmental Health Team for the majority of premises on which licensable activities are carried on; in other cases, the Health and Safety Executive is responsible);
  - the local authority with responsibility for Environmental Health (the Council's Pollution and Housing Team);
  - the local Planning Authority;
  - the Public Health Authority;
  - The Council's Trading Standards Team
  - the Area Child Protection Committee, and;

 any other relevant Licensing Authority in whose area a part of the premises are situated

Further to the minimum requirement's around consultation. The Council also consulted representatives of holders of premises licences, club premises certificates, businesses and residents in the Borough.

A public consultation for a 12-week period was also carried out and full details of the proposed changes to the policy were published on Trafford Council's website.

All replies received to the consultation were considered before the policy was finalised and approved.

**1.5** We aim to target, with enforcement action, any premises that are associated with crime and disorder, threaten public safety, generate public nuisance or threaten the wellbeing of our children. This policy along with other local strategies and initiatives will be used to control the negative impacts that licensed premises can cause such as increased crime and noise.

## Trafford Council Corporate Plan 2018-22

- **1.6** The Corporate Plan sets out the strategic vision and the Executive's overarching ambitions. It is a priority that Trafford has successful and thriving town centres. A key theme is creating pride in our local area; Trafford Council aims to achieve this by maintaining Trafford as the safest borough in Greater Manchester. An enabler of this vision is this Statement of Licensing policy which presents a sincere approach to partnership working, greater scope in terms of model conditions and supporting licensing strategies.
- **1.7** The Licensing Authority has taken full account of the guidance issued by the Secretary of State under Section 182 of the Act. Consideration has also been given to the provisions of the European Convention on Human Rights, The Equality Act 2010 and the provisions of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998.

### 2.0 Purpose

- **2.1** The Act provides a clear focus on the promotion of four statutory licensing objectives. The Licensing Authority must have regard to these four objectives when undertaking its various licensing functions and must ensure that they are promoted. The four licensing objectives are:
  - The prevention of crime and disorder;
  - · Public safety;
  - The prevention of public nuisance;
  - The protection of children from harm;

Each objective is of equal importance and they are the only matters that the Licensing Authority is permitted to have regard to when making determination on licensing applications.

- **2.2** The Council, in adopting this licensing policy, recognises both the needs of residents for a safe, healthy and sustainable environment to live and work, and the importance of well-run entertainment premises to the local economy and vibrancy of the Borough. The Council is committed to partnership working with the Police, fire service, local businesses, licensing trade, local people and those involved in child protection towards the promotion of the common objectives as set out in this policy.
- 2.3 This policy has five main purposes:
  - To inform elected members of the Licensing Committee of the powers attributed to them by the Act and to highlight the boundaries within which to make decisions.
  - 2) To inform applicants of the parameters within which the Licensing Authority will make decisions and how licensed premises are likely to be able to operate within the borough.
  - 3) To inform residents and businesses of the considerations which the Licensing Authority will take when making licensing decisions.

- 4) To inform Responsible Authorities of their powers under the Act to promote the four licensing objectives.
- 5) To support decisions made by the Council when these decisions are challenged in a court of law.
- **2.4** The Act has created a number of licensable activities for which it will be the responsibility of this Authority to accept applications, issue relevant licences and to enforce the requirements of the Act in relation to those activities, in line with the four licensing objectives. The licensable activities are:
  - The sale by retail of alcohol;
  - The supply of alcohol by or on behalf of a club to, or to the order of, a member of the club;
  - The provision of regulated entertainment in the presence of an audience meaning:
    - Exhibition of film
    - Performance of plays
    - Indoor sporting events
    - Boxing or wrestling
    - Live music
    - Recorded Music
    - Performance of Dance
    - Anything of a similar description
    - o The provision of late-night refreshment;
    - Any licensable activity provided on a temporary basis (Temporary Event Notices).
- 2.3 The Act also requires the Council to consult various bodies before determining the policy. A list of those who were consulted about this policy is contained in Appendix G. Due consideration has been given to all those who responded.

### 3.0 Authority Profile

- **3.1** The Borough of Trafford is an area of great diversity and contrasts and brings together a mix of inner-city, suburban and rural communities. Trafford lies in the South West of the Greater Manchester conurbation, and covers an area of approximately 40 Square Miles.
- **3.2** The Metropolitan Borough of Trafford was created in 1974 under local government re-organisation, and comprises Stretford, Sale and Altrincham, together with the former urban districts of Bowdon, Hale and Urmston, and the parishes of Carrington, Warburton, Dunham Massey and Partington.
- **3.3** Trafford's population is estimated at 226,600 (ONS Census 2011) an 8% increase on 2001.
- **3.4** Within Trafford there is Trafford Park, one of the biggest business parks in Europe, which covers a total area of 1650 acres, and is the base for over 1400 companies (just over 1000 within the Trafford borough boundary) employing in excess of 45,000 people.
- **3.5** Within Trafford Park there are a number of premises, including the Manchester International Freight Terminal, which is the first point of entry into the UK for food imports from Third Countries.
- **3.6** Significant shopping areas in Trafford include the INTU Trafford Centre, the 2nd largest shopping centre in the UK, with more than 348,000sq.m. of shopping and leisure space, around 280 shops and more than 50 places to eat, employing over 8000 people, and accounting for 30 million visitors a year.
- **3.7** There are also shopping centres in Altrincham, Sale, Urmston and at the Stretford Mall, and indoor and outdoor markets across the Borough.
- **3.8** Trafford is also the home of Manchester United Football Club, Altrincham Football Club and Lancashire County Cricket Club (LCCC). In recent years the cricket club has been a major venue for concerts for major international artists with audiences of up to 50,000.

- 3.9 Other major leisure venues include the Silver Blades Ice Rink in Altrincham Town Centre (home to the Manchester Phoenix ice hockey team), the Chill Factore (the UK's longest real snow indoor ski slope), the Airkix Indoor Skydiving Centre, the Imperial War Museum (North), Event City (the second largest exhibition space outside of London), the Sea Life Centre Aquarium at the Trafford Centre and 02 Victoria Warehouse.
- **3.10** A number of commercial outlets in Trafford now offer licensable activities identified in the Act. In total there are 765 licensed premises in Trafford. This includes 228 shops/off licences and 154 in the category of pubs and clubs. As of the 1<sup>st</sup> April 2020, in Trafford there are 1973 restaurants and other caterers and 501 food retailers, a number of which provide late night refreshment.

### 4.0 Applications

- **4.1** When considering an application, the Licensing Authority will have regard to:
  - The Licensing Act 2003 and relevant regulations;
  - Government guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003;
  - Any supporting regulations (as may be issued and/or amended by the Secretary of State from time to time); and
  - This Statement of Licensing policy.

Applicants should also have regard to these documents when preparing their application.

- **4.2** Each application will be considered individually on its own merits. This policy does not undermine the rights of any person to make an application under the Act for a variety of permissions or the right of any person to make representations or seek a review of a licence or certificate where the Act permits this.
- **4.3** Without prejudice to the right of any person to submit an application at any time, applicants are encouraged to discuss their proposals in advance with the Police. It may be beneficial to draw on the experience of the Police in relation particularly to the prevention of crime and disorder. Whilst there is no obligation on the part of the applicant to accept any advice or proposed condition requested by the Police (any conditions must be proportionate and appropriate), it remains that should there be areas of agreement between the two parties a representation from the Police would be less likely and (in the absence of any other representations) would lead to a speedier determination of the licence application.
- **4.4** When making an application, applicants should have regard to the local area and reflect this in their operating schedule.
- **4.5** An application for a premises licence must be made in the prescribed form to the Council. The application must be accompanied by:

- the required fee;
- an operating schedule (see below);
- a plan of the premises in a prescribed form to which the application relates; and
- if the application involves the supply of alcohol, a form of consent from the individual who is to be specified in the licence as the designated premises supervisor.
- **4.6** Application will only be deemed to be 'received' once all the required supporting information has been received
- **4.7** The operating schedule should ideally include a general description of the style and character of the business to be conducted on the premises (for example, a supermarket, or a cinema with six screens and a bar, or a restaurant, or a public house with two bars, a dining area and a garden open to customers). It is also expected to indicate the type of entertainment available on the premises, whether licensable under the 2003 Act or not. This is essential so that responsible authorities and interested parties can form a proper view as to what measures may be necessary at such premises for the protection of children from harm. For example, it is important that plans for regulated entertainment of an adult nature or with sexual content should be disclosed. An operating schedule must also set out the following details:
  - the licensable activities to be conducted on the premises;
  - the times during which it is proposed that the relevant licensable activities are to take place;
  - any other times when the premises are to be open to the public;
  - where the licence is required only for a limited period, that period;
  - where the licensable activities include the supply of alcohol, the name and address of the individual to be specified as the designated premises supervisor;
  - where the licensable activities include the supply of alcohol, whether the alcohol will be supplied for consumption on or off the premises or both;
  - the steps which the applicant proposes to take to promote the licensing objectives.

- **4.7** In preparing an operating schedule, applicants should have a good idea of the expectations of the Council and the responsible authorities about the steps that are necessary for the promotion of the licensing objectives. It is recommended that applicants, having completed their own risk assessments, should seek the views of the key responsible authorities. For example, on matters relating to crime and disorder, the Police should be consulted and on matters relating to noise, local environmental health officers would be consulted. Such co-operative effort should minimise the number of disputes which arise in respect of operating schedules. Where there are no disputes, the steps that applicants propose to take to promote the licensing objectives that they have set out in the operating schedule will very often translate directly into conditions that will be attached to premises licences.
- **4.8** Applications for the grant, variation or review of premises licences should be advertised in accordance with the arrangements prescribed in the Regulations. The content of the advert must use those terms and descriptions of the application that are prescribed by the Regulations made under the Act.
- **4.9** A person making an application for a Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate, or major variations of such licences or certificates, must send details of their applications to the 'responsible authorities' unless the application is submitted electronically, in which case the Council will serve the responsible authorities. These authorities must be consulted about such applications, and are entitled to lodge representations, and to ask the Council to review a premises licence and club premises certificate.
- 4.10 The responsible authorities, in the case of all premises, include: -
  - the Chief Officer of Police;
  - the Fire Authority;
  - the local enforcing authority for the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 (the Council's Environmental Health Team for the majority of premises on which licensable activities are carried on; in other cases the Health and Safety Executive is responsible);
  - the local authority with responsibility for Environmental Health (the Council's Pollution and Housing Team);
  - the local Planning Authority;
  - the Public Health Authority;

- The Council's Trading Standards Team
- the Area Child Protection Committee, and;
- any other relevant Licensing Authority in whose area a part of the premises are situated.
- **4.11** In relation to vessels, but no other premises, the responsible authorities will also include: -
  - the navigation authorities;
  - the Environment Agency;
  - the British Waterways Board, and;
  - the Secretary of State for Transport.

#### Consultation

- **4.12** The consultation must include a copy of the application form, the operating schedule, a plan of the premises and proof that notice of the application has been served on the 'responsible authorities'. If the application involves the supply of alcohol, a form of consent from the individual who is to be specified as the designated premises supervisor must be included.
- **4.13** As part of the consultation process, the Council may choose to consult with whoever appears appropriate to help it determine the application. Such interested parties may include: Councillors, persons living in the vicinity; bodies representing persons living in that vicinity; individuals involved in businesses in the vicinity; and bodies representing those persons involved in such businesses. In addition, these groups or organisations may themselves seek comments from others whom they know may wish to be aware of the application. These comments may in turn be passed on to the Council as part of the consultation process.

## Representations

**4.14** If no responsible authority makes a representation about an application and no interested party seeks to do so, then no hearing would be required and the application will be granted in the terms sought subject only to

conditions which are consistent with the operating schedule and relevant mandatory conditions in the Act.

**4.15** Where a representation is made under the terms of the Act by any person there will be a preliminary stage at which the Council will consider whether the representation is relevant, and not vexatious or frivolous. If the Council decide it is not relevant, no hearing is required in relation to that representation and in the absence of representations from other parties or responsible authorities, the application must be granted. The aggrieved person whose representation is not regarded as "relevant" may challenge the licensing authority's decision by way of judicial review.

## Public health representations

- **4.16** Section 104 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 amends the 2003 Act so as to include the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) Health and Wellbeing Board for the area as a responsible authority.
- **4.17** As a responsible authority, the CCG can make representations in relation to applications for the grant, variation, minor variation or review of premises licences and club premises certificates. In addition, the CCG may themselves seek a review of a premises licence. Any representation must be specific to the premises and cannot be a general objection.
- **4.18** Representations should be evidence based and should demonstrably refer to one or more of the licensing objectives. As there is no licensing objective relating to public health, the CCG must ensure representations are relevant to one of the four existing objectives.

#### **Determination**

**4.19** Where a representation is lodged by a responsible authority about a proposed operating schedule, the Council's discretion will be engaged. It is also engaged if any person makes relevant representations to the Council which are not frivolous or vexatious. A hearing will be required at which the disputing parties should be invited to present argument. The need for a hearing can only be dispensed with by the agreement of the Council, the applicant and all of the parties who made relevant representations. The hearing process must meet the requirements of the Regulations made under

the Act. The Council will seek to focus the hearing on the steps needed to promote the particular licensing objective which have given rise to the specific conflict and avoid straying into undisputed areas. In determining the application, the Council will give appropriate weight to:

- the argument and evidence presented by all parties;
- the guidance issued by the Secretary of State under Section 182 of the Act;
- this policy;
- the steps that are necessary to promote the licensing objectives.

**4.20** The Council will give its determination with reasons provided to support the determination. After considering all the relevant issues, it will be open to the Council to grant the application subject to such conditions that are consistent with the operating schedule, and these can be modified to such an extent that the Council considers necessary for the promotion of the licensing objectives. Alternatively, the Council may refuse the application on the grounds that refusal is necessary for the promotion of the licensing objectives. It may also refuse to specify a designated premises supervisor and/or only allow certain requested licensable activities.

#### **Variations**

**4.21** Premises should not be altered in such a way as to make it impossible to comply with an existing licence condition without first seeking a variation of the premises licence proposing the deletion of the condition in question. The applicant will need to propose in a new operating schedule reflecting the proposed alteration to the premises what alternative steps he or she intends to take (if any) to promote the licensing objectives. The application for variation will enable the responsible authorities with expertise in licensing matters to consider whether the proposal is acceptable.

**4.22** Particular scrutiny will be given to applications for a variation where there has been a proven history of non-compliance at the premises.

### 5.0 Representations

- **5.1** The Act describes two groups that may make representations to applications. These groups are "Responsible Authorities" and "Other Persons".
- **5.2** The meaning of 'other persons' is any individual, body, organisation, group, association or business who is, or is likely to be, affected by the operation of a licensed premises. Other persons do not need to live within the vicinity of the premises to make a representation. However, the Licensing Authority will consider the location of the person making the representation when deciding what weight to allocate to the representation.
- **5.3** Any representation must be relevant, meaning that it must relate to one or more of the licensing objectives. All representations will be considered on their merits unless the authority deems that a representation is vexatious, frivolous or (in the case of a review) a repetition. In relation to applications for reviews a repetitious representation is one that is identical or substantially similar to grounds for review specified in an earlier application for review made in respect of the same premises that has already been determined by the Council.
- 5.4 Any representation must be received within the prescribed consultation period allocated to an application (28 days for new, variation and review applications). Any representations not received within the specified time will be invalidated and returned. It is the responsibility of the person making the representation to ensure that their representation is received on time. Representations may be hand delivered in writing to the Trafford Town Hall, posted to the Town Hall or sent by email to licensing@trafford.gov.uk. Trafford Council are unable to accept verbal representations over the telephone.
- **5.5** Copies of representations, including the name and address details of the person making the representation will be sent to the applicant. We are unable to accept anonymous representations. Telephone or email details will not be shared with the applicant unless agreed with the person who submitted representation has expressively given their consent for this information to be released.

#### **Petitions**

**5.6** It should also be made clear that the lead petitioner is expected to speak on the behalf of all petitioners at any hearing - if a person signing the petition would also like to raise their own representation, then this individual method is an option for them to guarantee their right to make oral representation and raise whatever issues affect them directly.

**5.7** The Licensing Authority will accept petitions, but there are some important factors to consider before organising a petition:

- We ask that the instigator of the petition identifies themselves as a central point of contact.
- We may need to make contact in order to verify certain matters and if we are unable to do this it could invalidate the petition.
- Each page of the petition should contain information as to the purpose of the petition so that all persons know what they are signing.
- Full names and addresses must be supplied.
- The petition must make clear the premises/application to which it relates
- The petition must relate to one or more of the licensing objectives
- Petitions regarding the Licensing Act 2003 must be submitted in accordance with Trafford Council's procedures on representations to the offices of the Licensing team at Trafford Town Hall, Talbot Road, Stretford M32 0TH and within the statutory consultation time limit.
- Representations will not be accepted if they are libellous, slanderous, racist or of an unacceptable nature.
- Representations relating to the impact of new businesses on existing trade cannot be taken into account.
- All signatories must be made aware that a copy of the petition will be supplied to the applicant and a copy will be contained within the committee papers, so their personal details will become public knowledge.
- We will not write to each signatory separately, but instead assume that
  the instigator will advise each signatory of the hearing date and the final
  outcome of the application. It is expected that the instigator will
  represent the signatories at the hearing and to speak for them.

## 6.0 Determining Applications

## Licensing objectives

**6.1** The Council will carry out its functions under the Act with a view to promoting the licensing objectives.

The Licensing Objectives are:

- The prevention of crime and disorder;
- Ensuring public safety;
- The prevention of public nuisance;
- The protection of children from harm.

Each objective is of equal importance.

### Premises licences

- **6.2** When determining applications, the Council will take into account the operating schedule submitted by the applicant, the suitability of the premises for the intended use, any cumulative impact policy which may be in effect and any representations received as a result of the consultation process.
- **6.3** When considering any application, the licensing Authority will so far as possible avoid duplication with other regulatory regimes and does not intend to use the Licensing Act to achieve outcomes that can be achieved by other legislation.
- **6.4** In particular the licensing functions will be carried out separately from the Council's functions as the Planning Authority. However, it will normally be expected that applications for premises licences in respect of permanent commercial premises should normally be from businesses with the appropriate planning consent for the property concerned (other permissions, such as permission of the premises owner, may be applicable to licensed premises and applicants are expected to ensure that such permissions are obtained where appropriate).

**6.5** In undertaking its licensing functions, the Council will be mindful of other legislation which may impact on the promotion of the licensing objectives, for example:

- Crime and Disorder Act 1998 in particular Section 17
- The Health & Safety at Work Act etc. 1974
- The Environmental Protection Act 1990 (as amended)
- The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2004
- The Equalities Act 2010
- Human Rights Act 1998
- Safety of Sports Grounds Act 1975
- Town and Country Planning Act 1990
- Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004
- Police Reform Act 2000
- The Police and Crime Act 2009
- The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014
- Violent Crime Reduction Act 2006
- Health Act 2006

**6.6** The licensing process can only seek to control those measures within the control of the licensee, and 'in the vicinity' of a premises. The conditions attached to various authorisations will, therefore, be consistent with operating schedules and will mainly focus on:

- matters within the control of individual licensees and others who are granted any relevant authorisations;
- the premises and places being used for licensable activities and their vicinity; and
- the direct impact of the activities taking place at the licensed premises on members of the public living, working or engaged in normal activity in the area concerned.

#### Public health

**6.7** The licensing authority recognises there is no public health licensing objective and therefore cannot conduct its licensing function in order to promote public health. The licensing function can only be carried out to promote the four licensing objectives as set out by the Licensing Act 2003.

- 6.8 Through ensuring the responsible selling of alcohol, this may impact on reducing a person's drinking at harmful or hazardous levels. However, it is recognised that any such positive impact will be as a coincidence of the licensing authority conducting its licensing function under the Act to promote the licensing objectives. Local Health Bodies potentially have access to much data that can inform licensing decisions and policy. When such data is presented it will be considered and where links are made to any of the four licensing objectives it will be taken into account by the Licensing Sub-Committee in reaching its decision. The licensing authority recognises the impact of alcohol misuse in Trafford and it is hoped that through the implementation of this licensing policy the promotion of the four licensing objectives will in turn have a positive effect on preventing alcohol misuse. For example, by ensuring licensed premises refuse sales of alcohol to children, or those attempting to purchase it on behalf of children; this will impact positively on a reduction in child alcohol related health problems.
- **6.9** Applications relating to premises will be made by a person who is, or who proposes to be carrying on the business involving the use of the premises. A person can include a company. All applications for licences and variations of licences are subject to a consultation process, the following will be consulted:
  - Responsible Authorities
  - Ward Councillors;
  - · Ward Councillors of adjoining wards if premises are adjacent to ward
  - boundaries
  - Neighbouring Boroughs should the premises be adjacent to a Borough boundary;
  - Appropriate Council departments;
  - Any other group the Council considers appropriate;
- **6.10** The applicant for any premises licence is responsible for placing an advertisement at the premises and in a local newspaper, the Council will advertise the application on the Council website. The law requires that the notice on the premises must be on pale blue paper of at least A4 in size, the writing must be of font size 16 or equivalent and that it must be clearly visible from the outside of the premises. The newspaper advertisement must appear in a local newspaper circulating in the area within 10 working days starting on

the day after submission of the application to this authority. At the end of the consultation process, the application will be determined. If no representations have been made, then an officer of the Council will determine the application under delegated authority and the licence will be granted in line with the application and operating schedule. If there are representations, the application will be determined by the Licensing Sub-Committee. The Council may consider representations based on the impact of the promotion of the licensing objectives in the Borough generally, and on the grant of the particular application before them.

- **6.11** Where representations are made to a particular application, either from a responsible authority about a proposed operating schedule or from an "other person" that relates to the licensing objectives, a hearing will be held at which the applicant and those making representation will have the opportunity to comment on the representations made.
- **6.12** In all cases, applicants and those making representation in respect of applications made to the licensing authority have a right of appeal to the Magistrates' Court against the decisions of the Authority. Any appeal must be lodged within 21 days of the date upon which written notice of the decision is given by the licensing authority.
- **6.13** Guidance is available for applicants, which sets out the details of the application process, having regard to the Licensing Act 2003, the regulations, statutory guidance and local practice and procedures. It should be noted that incomplete applications will not be accepted but will be returned with an explanation as to why it is incomplete.
- **6.14** Guidance is equally available for those wishing to make representation or to call a review of an existing licence.

## **Minor variations**

**6.15** Minor variations will be considered in respect of minor changes to the plan, structure or layout of a premises, small changes to licensing hours, the removal or addition of conditions where appropriate, the removal or addition of licensable activities to the scope of the licence (where permitted by legislation) and any other minor matter where it is considered that the

application does not adversely impact on one or more of the licensing objectives.

**6.16** A simplified process will be adopted for minor variations. The licensing authority will consult with any relevant responsible authority that it deems appropriate (if any) and any representations from them will be considered. Whilst each application will be considered on its individual merits, it will be normal practice to refuse an application for a minor variation in favour of a full variation should any representations be received, unless agreement can be reached which satisfies the representation. In the absence of any representation the minor variation would normally be granted provided that there is no likelihood of any adverse effect on the licensing objectives.

## 7.0 Promoting the Four Licensing Objectives

- **7.1** The promotion of the four objectives is fundamental to the Act. Every applicant for a premises licence will be required to provide a fully completed, detailed operating schedule. This schedule will be in the prescribed format. By completing this operating schedule, applicants will demonstrate that they have considered strategies that will lead to fulfilment of the licensing objectives. The schedule will contain the following information:
  - The licensable activities to be conducted on the premises
  - The times during which these activities will take place (including any differing times during holiday periods or during particular seasons if it is likely that times would be different);
  - Any other times when the premises will be open to the public;
  - If alcohol is to be supplied for consumption on the premises, the name and address of the designated premises supervisor;
  - Whether alcohol will be supplied for consumption on or off the premises;
  - What steps the applicant will take to promote the four licensing objectives;
  - Any other details set out from time to time in regulations issued by the Secretary of State.
- 7.2 In respect of each of the four licensing objectives, applicants will be expected to provide evidence to the licensing Authority that suitable and sufficient measures, as detailed in their operating schedule, will be implemented and maintained, relevant to the individual style and characteristics of their premises and events. Reference will need to be made to whether additional measures will be taken on an occasional or specific basis such as when a special event or promotion is planned, which is intended, or is likely to attract larger audiences.
- **7.3** The most appropriate means for an applicant to assess what measures are needed to promote the licensing objectives would be by completion of a risk assessment. The operating schedule forms the basis of any conditions placed on any licence issued. It also provides valuable information to responsible authorities and other persons to assist in their assessment of the

impact of any licensed activity on the licensing objectives and provides information as to how the applicant will address these issues. It could therefore, form the basis of any decision to submit representation against the application. For this reason, although the Licensing Authority recognise that a risk assessment cannot be demanded (other than where required by other legislation) it would be in the applicants interest to provide the fullest possible detail in the operating schedule, for which a full risk assessment would provide confirmation that the applicant has seriously considered the issues and is aware of his/her duty to promote the licensing objectives at all times, but more importantly is aware of how this may be best achieved.

- **7.4** One example of where a risk assessment is required under separate legislation is under the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005, which requires that a fire safety risk assessment must be recorded and made available for inspection. The fire service would normally expect this information to be made available on application for a premises licence.
- **7.5** Applicants have primary responsibility for their own particular premises and will be expected to address all aspects relevant to the individual style and characteristics of their premises and events.
- **7.6** Guidance is offered below as to possible control measures, which may assist applicants in formulating their operating schedule. Given the earlier acknowledgement of the numbers of different types of premises, it should be noted that these measures are by no means to be considered an exhaustive list. Many control measures achieve more than one objective but have not necessarily been repeated under each objective. Similarly, applicants will not be expected to list a control measure more than once in their operating schedule.
- 7.7 Additional measures may need to be considered on an occasional or specific basis such as when a special event (e.g. popular live band) or promotion (e.g. during major sporting occasions) is planned, which is intended or likely to attract a larger audience, or audiences of a different nature, which may have significant impact on the achievement of the licensing objectives. Where applicable, reference must be made in an applicant's operating schedule to such occasions, which should highlight the

additional measures that are planned in order to achieve the licensing objectives.

**7.8** The Licensing Authority considers the effective and responsible management of the premises, instruction, training and supervision of staff and the adoption of best practice to be amongst the most essential control measures for the achievement of the licensing objectives. For this reason, these measures should be specifically considered and addressed within an applicant's operating schedule.

## **Capacity**

7.9 Whilst it is acknowledged that the setting of occupancy limits for a premises is not a requirement, this is considered to be an essential factor in effective achievement of the licensing objectives in relation to premises other than those licensed primarily for the consumption or sale of food and for sale of alcohol for consumption 'off' the premises. In relation therefore to relevant premises operating on the basis of selling alcohol for consumption 'on' the premises and/or providing a high level of regulated entertainment and for specific types of occasional events, the Licensing Authority will expect that the issue of occupancy capacity is considered and, where appropriate, addressed. Within the operating schedule and in appropriate instances a voluntary maximum occupancy capacity would be considered 'good practice'.

**7.10** When determining capacity in line with above, important factors would include the design and layout of the premises and the size and number of exits within recommended travel distances. Other factors to be considered could include:

- The nature of the premises or event;
- The nature of the licensable activities being provided;
- The provision or removal of such items as temporary structures, such as stages or furniture;
- The number of staff available to supervise customers both ordinarily and in the event of an emergency;
- The usual average age of customers
- The attendance by customers with disabilities, or whose first language is not English;
- · Availability of suitable and sufficient sanitary accommodation; and

- The nature and provision of facilities for ventilation.
- 7.11 The agreement to a capacity for a premises or events should not be interpreted as a requirement to also provide permanent monitoring arrangements such as door staff, attendance clickers or maintenance of attendance records. The Licensing Authority recognises that the person in charge at the premises can often readily assess the occupancy level of the premises without resort to such measures. However, where the capacity is likely to be reached (such as on known busy evenings) and particularly where a special event or promotion is planned, the applicant will be expected to detail the additional arrangements that will be put in place to ensure that the capacity of the premises is not exceeded. Equally this does not remove the requirement for the applicant to consider the use of door staff or for a responsible authority to make representation to that issue on the basis of fact and in appropriate and proportionate circumstances. In such cases if agreement cannot be reached between applicant and the responsible authority concerned, the matter would be determined by members of the licensing panel, who would assess the individual circumstances of the matter based on its individual merits.

#### 8.0 Prevention of Crime and Disorder

- **8.1** Trafford Council is committed to further reducing crime and disorder within Trafford and helping people feel safe. The Council will have particular regard to the likely impact of licensing on related crime and disorder in the Borough particularly when considering the location, impact, operation and management of all proposed licence/certificate applications, and variations of conditions.
- **8.2** The promotion of the licensing objective to prevent crime and disorder places a responsibility on licence holders to become key partners in achieving this objective. Applicants will be expected to demonstrate in their operating schedule that suitable and sufficient measures have been identified and will be implemented and maintained to reduce or prevent crime and disorder on and in the vicinity of their premises, relevant to the individual style and characteristics of their premises and events.
- **8.3** Particular scrutiny will be given to applications for a variation where there has been a proven history of non-compliance at the premises.
- **8.4** When addressing the issue of crime and disorder, the applicant should be able to demonstrate that those factors that impact on crime and disorder have been considered. These factors include:
  - Underage drinking;
  - Drunkenness on the premises;
  - Public drunkenness;
  - Drugs;
  - Violent behaviour;
  - and Anti-social behaviour.
- **8.5** Examples of control measures are highlighted below, to assist applicants, who may need to take account of them in their operating schedule, having regard to their particular type of premises and/or activities:
  - Effective and responsible management of the premises; the capability of the person who is in charge of the premises during trading hours or when Regulated Entertainment is provided to effectively and

- responsibly manage and supervise the premises, including associated open areas;
- Training and supervision of staff; The steps taken or to be taken to
  ensure that appropriate instruction, training and supervision is given to
  those employed or engaged in the premises to prevent incidents of
  crime and disorder, and where appropriate any relevant qualifications;
- The measures taken or to be taken to raise staff awareness and discourage and prevent the use or supply of illegal drugs on the premises;
- Adoption of best practice guidance (e.g. Home Office: Selling Alcohol Responsibly, Safer Clubbing, the National Alcohol Harm Reduction Strategy Toolkit and other recognised codes of practice, including those relating to drinks promotions);
- Acceptance of accredited 'proof of age' cards e.g. PASS and/or passports and photographic drivers' licences;
- Incident and refusal books kept and maintained on the premises;
- Membership of the "Reducing the Strength" scheme;
- Provision of effective CCTV in and around the premises;
- Employment of Security Industry Agency (SIA) door staff;
- Provision of polycarbonate drinking vessels;
- Provision of secure deposit boxes for confiscated items ('sin bins') such as drugs weapons etc;
- Provision of security measures such as outside lighting; and
- Membership of local 'pubwatch' schemes or similar;
- Any appropriate additional measures taken or to be taken for the prevention of violence or public disorder.
- **8.6** The extent to which the above matters need to be addressed will be dependent on the individual style and characteristics of the premises, proposed events and activities. In general, however, the Council will expect more comprehensive measures to be in place at late night venues (i.e. premises which remain open to the public after midnight) or in premises with a history of crime and disorder issues.
- **8.7** Where additional measures have been identified as likely to have an impact on the prevention of crime and disorder at any premises, the Council

would expect applicants to detail such measures to be taken in their operating schedules. Such measures may include:

- Provision of effective CCTV with recording facilities both within and outside certain premises;
- Crime prevention design, including adequate lighting and supervision of car parks;
- Metal detection and search facilities;
- Procedures for risk assessing promotions and events such as 'happy hours' for the potential to cause crime and disorder, and plans for minimising such risks;
- Measures to prevent the use or supply of illegal drugs
- Employment of Security Industry Authority licensed door supervisors and other appropriately trained staff;
- Participation in an appropriate Pubwatch Scheme or any other similar scheme;
- Promotion of safe drinking;
- The control of glass and the provision of plastic containers or toughened glass;
- Use of radio net system (where available);
- Provisions for dealing with prostitution or indecency;
- Provisions for discouraging drinking in public places in the vicinity of the premises;
- Policies on dress and music;
- Appropriate additional staff training.
- **8.8** In addition, in circumstances where the applicant has agreed measures to co-ordinate closing times or to prevent migration between premises with different closing times, it would be appropriate to detail such arrangements in the operating schedule.
- **8.9** All premises applying for licensing beyond midnight must demonstrate that its customers will be capable of leaving the area without causing a disruption to local residents or impact upon crime and disorder. For example, where appropriate and relevant an assessment of the availability of late-night transport, and the likely flow of pedestrian traffic away from the premises, could be included in the operating schedule.

- **8.10** The Council will have regard to representations from the Police in deciding whether the above issues have been adequately addressed. Where Police representations indicate that any matter has not been addressed sufficiently to avoid a potential negative impact on crime and disorder, the applicant will be expected to demonstrate that the issues can be satisfactorily addressed before the Council will grant an application for a licence or a variation of a licence.
- **8.11** Where either prescribed and/or premises-related conditions have not been adhered to in the past, the Council will expect applicants to have considered and taken action to rectify those issues. Applications are likely to be refused where there are significant outstanding issues.
- **8.12** In respect of premises predominantly supplying take-away food, between the hours of 11.00pm and 5.00am the Council would need to be satisfied that the supply of alcohol will not lead to an increase in crime and disorder or public nuisance in the vicinity of the premises.
- **8.13** The Council will expect licensees of venues likely to be affected by drugs to take all reasonable steps to prevent the entry of drugs into licensed premises, to take appropriate steps to prevent drugs changing hands within the premises and to take practical measures to prevent tragedies as a result of drug misuse. In certain types of premises, it may be appropriate and relevant for the operating schedule to include measures such as access for customers to drug testing kits, particularly for the prevention of drug assisted sexual assault, chill-out rooms and free water.
- **8.14** The Council will not support drinks' promotions that encourage the irresponsible consumption of alcohol, and where there is demonstrable evidence that certain types of promotion (such as "buy one get one free", "drink as much as you can for £20.00" or time limited price promotions) encourage significant alcohol intake within short periods of time ('binge drinking'), and the Council may consider, where relevant representations have been made, imposing special conditions. If such promotions are permitted, they should be held in accordance with the mandatory conditions which prohibit irresponsible promotions.

- **8.15** Within the operating schedule for premises from which alcohol will be sold, the applicant must identify the Designated Premises Supervisor. The Council will normally expect the Designated Premises Supervisor to have been given the day to day responsibility for running the premises by the holder of the premises licence and, as such, would normally expect them to be present on the premises on a frequent and regular basis
- **8.16** Glass is a major factor in disturbances around licensed premises. At certain types of premises if measures were introduced in relation to glass control within the premises, at disposal points and to prevent the unauthorised removal of glass from premises, these may assist in promoting the licensing objective of preventing crime and disorder. In such cases it may be appropriate for applicants to address these issues through their operating schedule.
- **8.17** Whenever any persons are employed at licensed premises to carry out a security activity, it will be a condition of licence that all such persons must be licensed with the Security Industry Authority. The applicant may consider that certain premises require strict supervision for the purpose of promoting the licensing objectives. In such cases, it may be appropriate for the applicant to provide details of the security arrangements to be employed at the premises. This may then form the basis of an appropriate condition on the licence. The absence of such measures in the operating schedule may give rise to a relevant representation.
- **8.18** The Council will work closely with the Police to review the licences of premises where a Police Closure Notice has been served.
- **8.19** Off Licences, shops, supermarkets and stores selling alcohol for consumption off the premises potentially have a high risk of crime and disorder as well as being targeted as an easy premises from where to acquire alcohol. Such premises can contribute to antisocial behaviour and disorder through the consumption of alcohol on the street and in open spaces by groups of drinkers, through the sale of alcohol to children, and through the sale of alcohol to street drinkers and persons who are already drunk.
- **8.20** It is important that members of staff working at off licences are suitably trained in their responsibilities under the Act and can discharge their duties in

full compliance with the licence conditions and requirements of the Act. This includes the ability to competently check a customer's age with acceptable forms of identification where appropriate. The Licensing Authority will particularly consider the following matters where they are material to the individual application:

- The likelihood of any violence, public order, disorder or policing problem if the licence is granted;
- The measures taken to control admission to the premises, and to take reasonable steps to prevent the occurrence of crime and disorder and public nuisance immediately outside the premises, where and to the extent that these matters are within their control;
- Past conduct and prior history of complaints against the premises;
- Whether a dispersal policy has been prepared to minimize the potential for disorder as customers leave the premises; and
- · Any relevant representations.
- **8.21** It is recommended that applicants discuss the crime prevention procedures in their premises with the Greater Manchester Police Licensing Constable and Trafford Council's Licensing Officer before making a formal application.
- **8.22** The Licensing Authority is aware of the link between the supply of discounted alcohol and incidents of alcohol related disorder as well as the impact that excessive consumption of alcohol or binge drinking can have on public health and will consider whether any additional measures or restrictions can be placed on alcohol sales to prevent binge drinking and promote 'sensible drinking'.
- **8.23** Conditions relating to the provision of door supervisors and security teams may be valuable in:
  - preventing the admission and ensuring the departure from the premises of the drunk and disorderly, without causing further disorder; keeping out excluded individuals (subject to court bans or imposed by the licence holder);
  - searching and excluding those suspected of carrying illegal drugs, or carrying offensive weapons; and
  - maintaining orderly queuing outside of venues prone to such queuing.

- Where door supervisors conducting security activities are to be a
  condition of a licence, conditions may also be needed to deal with the
  number of supervisors required, the displaying of name badges, the
  carrying of proof of registration, where and at what times they should be
  stationed on the premises, and whether at least one female supervisor
  should be available (for example, if female customers are to be the
  subject of body searches). Door supervisors also have a role to play in
  ensuring public safety.
- **8.24** The presence of CCTV cameras can be an important means of deterring and detecting crime at, and immediately outside, licensed premises. Conditions should not just consider a requirement to have CCTV on the premises, but also the precise siting of each camera, the requirement to maintain cameras in working order, and to retain recordings for an appropriate period of time.

The police should provide individuals conducting risk assessments when preparing operating schedules with advice on the use of CCTV to prevent crime.

- **8.25** It may be appropriate at some premises for notices to be displayed that warn customers of the prevalence of crime that may target them. For example, in certain areas, a condition attached to a premises licence or club premises certificate might require the displaying of notices at the premises which warn customers about the need to be aware of pickpockets or bag snatchers, and to guard their property. Similarly, it may be appropriate for notices to be displayed that advise customers not to leave bags unattended because of concerns about terrorism. Consideration could be given to a condition requiring a notice to display the name of a contact for customers if they wish to report concerns.
- **8.26** This authority supports the national Pubwatch scheme. Such schemes are voluntary (unless there is a specific licence condition that makes membership obligatory) as they are organised by licence holders themselves to share good practice and intelligence information, thus promoting due diligence.

- **8.27** The Council will consider representations from the Police to exercise its powers to designate areas where alcohol may not be consumed in a public place to meet the Public Safety and Crime and Disorder Objectives
- **8.28** Local crime prevention strategies will, wherever appropriate and as far as is possible, be supported and reflected in conditions attached to premises licences and club premises certificates.

## **Old Trafford stadium**

- **8.29** It is accepted that the area around the Old Trafford football ground, (home to Manchester United Football Club), during match days suffers from crime and disorder problems.
- **8.30** During the football season there are significant numbers of arrests during football operations around Old Trafford. The Police's experience is that a high percentage of those arrested or ejected have consumed alcohol in or near to the ground. Police intelligence also strongly indicates the use of licensed premises around the ground by groups involved in organised football disorder.
- **8.31** In recent years the Police along with Manchester United and the Premier League have worked in partnership to schedule potentially difficult matches earlier in the day. The underlying reason for this policy has been the drive to reduce the scale of alcohol consumption prior to kick off. This policy has been viewed as a success, as the levels of disorder associated with high risk matches have decreased over the last five years.
- **8.32** Given the high-profile nature of matches at Old Trafford and the links between crime and disorder and alcohol consumption the Council believe that the licensing policy should reflect the unique circumstances present in the area. Therefore, the Council would expect applicants in the Old Trafford area to identify issues that may give rise to crime and disorder problems on match days and when major events are held at Old Trafford, and where appropriate and relevant to include measures to deal with such issues in their operating schedule.

### 9.0 Public Safety

- **9.1** Trafford Council is committed to ensuring as far as practicably possible that the safety of any person visiting or working in licensed premises is not compromised. To this end, applicants will be expected to demonstrate in their operating schedule that suitable and sufficient measures have been identified and will be implemented and maintained to ensure public safety, relevant to the individual style and characteristics of their premises and events.
- **9.2** The Council is committed to ensuring public safety across the borough by working in `close partnership, in particular, with Greater Manchester Police and Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Service, as well as with licensees.
- **9.3** When addressing the licensing objective of public safety, an applicant will be expected to demonstrate that those factors that impact upon the standards of public safety have been considered. These may include:
  - The condition, design and layout of the premises, including the means of escape in case of fire;
  - Arrangements to ensure the safety of customers and staff in the event of fire or another type of emergency;
  - The nature of the activities to be provided, in particular the sale or supply of alcohol, and including whether those activities are of a temporary or permanent nature;
  - The occupancy capacity of the premises, meaning the number of people that can safely be accommodated at the premises; having regard, in particular to floor area and means of escape;
  - The customer profile e.g. age, disability etc;
  - The necessary health and safety and fire risk assessments at premises and events, and other measures to reduce risk to public safety;
  - The measures to be employed to monitor the occupancy of the premises so that maximum capacities (where identified) are not exceeded:
  - The necessary risk assessments to cover the erection and design of any temporary structures;

- Risk assessments and safety procedures in the event that the use of special effects such as lasers, pyrotechnics, smoke machines, foam machines etc is proposed;
- The number of people employed or engaged to secure the safety of everyone attending the premises or event;
- Measures for the appropriate instruction, training and supervision of those employed or engaged to secure the safety of everyone attending the premises or event;
- Noise exposure, both in terms of staff safety and protection of hearing for the public and staff at the premises, in accordance with current legislation;
- Arrangements to ensure that litter, generated by the activity of premises, does not create a fire hazard;
- Implementation of appropriate crowd management measures
- The hours of operation (differentiating the hours of opening from the hours during which licensable activities are conducted, if different);
- The adequacy of transportation arrangements to ensure customers are able to travel safely to and from the premises and alerting people to the dangers of drinking and driving);
- Any arrangements or advertising of taxis and private hire vehicles to relate only to such vehicles properly licensed by the Council.
- The use of special effects such as lasers, pyrotechnics, smoke machines, foam machines etc.

The extent to which the above matters need to be addressed will be dependent on the individual style and characteristics of the premises, proposed events and activities.

**9.4** The Council will have regard to representations from the responsible authorities to determine if measures proposed are sufficient to ensure the safety of the public. Where representations are made by one of the responsible authorities indicating that any matter has not been addressed sufficiently to ensure public safety, the applicant will be expected to demonstrate that the issues can be satisfactorily addressed before the Council will grant an application for a licence or a variation of a licence.

- **9.5** Prior to the determination of a licensing application, and subsequently, an applicant must comply with statutory requirement/regulations to provide the following:
  - (a) Electrical Inspection Report Certificate
  - (b) Fire Alarm Test Inspection Report
  - (c) Emergency Lighting Inspection and Test Report
  - (d) Fire-fighting Equipment
  - (e) Flame Retardant Properties of Materials Certificate (new premises or new upholstery)
  - (f) Gas Safety Certificate
  - (g) Ceiling Certificate, in the case of cinemas.
- 9.6 Where applicants consider the use of licensed door supervisors to control access and egress to and from premises, this should be detailed in the operating schedule and where appropriate the Council will consider the attachment of a suitable condition. The absence of such measures in the operating schedule may give rise to a relevant representation.
- **9.7** The Council will work in close partnership with the Greater Manchester Fire Service to assist in determining an appropriate maximum capacity, where required, at individual venues.
- **9.8** The following examples of control measures are given to assist applicants who may need to take account of them in their operating schedule, having regard to their particular type of premises and/or activities:
  - Suitable and sufficient risk assessments:
  - Effective and responsible management of the premises;
  - Provision of a sufficient number of people employed or engaged to secure the safety of the premises and its patrons;
  - · Appropriate instruction, training and supervision of those employed or
  - · engaged to secure the safety of the premises and its patrons;
  - Adoption of best practice guidance;
  - Provision of effective CCTV in and around the premises;
  - Provision of polycarbonate drinking vessels;
  - · Implementation of crowd management measures; and
  - Proof of regular testing (and certification where appropriate) of procedures, appliances, systems etc. pertinent to safety.

- **9.9** It should be noted that in the context of promoting public safety, this relates to the physical safety of those using the premises and not public health, although there may be an incidental public health effect from some conditions designed to promote public safety.
- 9.10 It should be noted that conditions relating to public safety should be those that are appropriate, in the particular circumstances of any individual premises or club premises and should not duplicate other requirements of the law. Equally, the attachment of conditions to a premises licence or club premises certificate will not in any way relieve employers of the statutory duty to comply with the requirements of other legislation including the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974, associated regulations and especially the requirements under the Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999 and the Fire Precautions (Workplace) Regulations 1997 to undertake risk assessments. Employers should assess the risks, including risks from fire, and take measures appropriately to avoid and control these risks. Conditions enforcing those requirements would therefore be inappropriate.
- **9.11** Fire safety guides are available to assist with the completion of operating schedules and may be found at: <a href="https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/fire-safety-law-and-guidance-documents-for-business">https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/fire-safety-law-and-guidance-documents-for-business</a>
- **9.12** The significant findings of a Fire Risk assessment would consist of:
  - · A list of the fire hazards as identified by the risk assessment;
  - The control measures put in place to remove or mitigate the hazards presented;
  - Details of the persons affected by the hazards within the premises;
  - Details of the actions to be taken in the event of a fire or the actuation of a fire alarm (emergency plan);
  - Individual roles and responsibilities.
- 9.13 Glasses containing drinks may be used as weapons during incidents of disorder and in un-toughened form, can cause very serious injuries.
  Consideration could therefore be given to conditions requiring the use of polycarbonate (or similar) containers where considered appropriate. Location

and style of the venue and the activities carried on there would be particularly important in assessing whether a condition is appropriate. For example, the use of glass containers on the terraces of some outdoor sports grounds may obviously be of concern, and similar concerns may also apply to indoor sports events such as boxing matches. Similarly, the use of polycarbonate containers during the televising of live sporting events, such as international football matches or "high risk" matches, when high states of excitement and emotion fuelled by alcohol might arise, may be an appropriate condition. It should be noted that the use of polycarbonate or paper drinks containers may also be relevant as measures appropriate to promote public safety.

**9.14** Although most commonly made a condition of a licence on public safety grounds, consideration should also be given to conditions which set capacity limits for licensed premises or clubs where it may be appropriate to prevent overcrowding which can lead to disorder and violence. Where such a condition is considered appropriate, consideration should also be given to whether door supervisors would be needed to ensure that the numbers are appropriately controlled.

### Medical resource

**9.15** The applicant should complete a risk assessment as to the type and amount of medical provision is required for their event. Assistance can be taken from the Purple Guide; the expectation of the Licensing Authority is that medical resourcing matches the formula given in the Purple Guide as a minimum. Sufficient reasons would need to be given to depart from this position.

**9.16** The Licensing Authority expects exclusive medical provision for events with capacity over 1,000 such as boxing, concerts, festivals, DJ sets, sports events, live-streamed sports events for example in a fan zone. 'Exclusive medical provision' means that those designated with roles under a Medical Resource Risk Assessment are not given any other roles or duties other than their assigned tasks relating to medical support.

### 10.0 Prevention of Public Nuisance

- 10.1 Licensed premises have a significant potential to adversely impact upon communities through public nuisances that arise from their operation. This Authority wishes to maintain and protect the amenity of residents and businesses from the potential consequence of the operation of a licensed premise whilst balancing this with the recognition of the valuable cultural, social and economic importance that such premises provide.
- **10.2** It is the intention of this Authority to interpret 'public nuisance' in its widest sense, in this context includes such issues as noise and disturbance, light pollution, odour, vermin and pest infestations, accumulations of refuse and litter, and anti-social behaviour, where these matters impact on those living, working or otherwise engaged in normal activity in an area.
- 10.3 It should be noted that provisions of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 and the Noise Act 1996 provide some protection to the general public from the effects of noise nuisance. In addition, the provisions of the Licensing Act 2003 enable a police constable or council officer to close down licensed premises and premises carrying on temporary permitted activities that are causing nuisance resulting from noise emanating from the premises. These matters should be considered before deciding whether or not conditions are appropriate for the prevention of public nuisance.
- **10.4** It should be clear to applicants that the Licensing Authority will normally apply stricter conditions, including controls on licensing hours, where licensed premises are in residential areas and where relevant representations have been received.
- 10.5 Applicants will be expected to demonstrate in their operating schedule that suitable and sufficient measures have been identified and will be implemented and maintained to prevent public nuisance, relevant to the individual style and characteristics of their premises and events.
- **10.6** When addressing the issue of the prevention of public nuisance, the applicant must demonstrate to the licensing authority that those factors,

which impact upon the likelihood of public nuisance, have been considered. These may include:

- The location of the premises and its proximity to residential and other noise sensitive premises such as hospitals, hospices and places of worship;
- The hours of opening, particularly between 23.00 hours and 07.00 hours;
- The nature of activities to be provided, including whether those activities are of a temporary or permanent nature and whether they are to be held inside
- or outside the premises;
- The design and layout of the premises and in particular the presence of noise limiting features;
- The occupancy capacity of the premises;
- The availability of public transport;
- 'Wind down period' between the end of licensable activities and the closure of the premises;
- Last time of admission:
- Measures taken or proposed for management and supervision of the premises and associated open areas to minimise unreasonable disturbance by customers and staff arriving or departing from the premises and delivery of goods and services.
- Control of opening hours for all or part (e.g. garden areas) of the premises
- Measures taken to control light to ensure that it does not stray outside the boundary of the premises such as to give rise to problems to residents in the vicinity
- Steps taken to lessen the impact of parking in the local vicinity
- Measures taken to prevent someone who has consumed excess alcohol from entering the premises and to manage individuals on the premises who have consumed excess alcohol
- Management arrangements for collection and disposal of litter and refuse, and the control of pests
- Arrangements for ensuring that adequate and suitably maintained sanitary provision and washing facilities are provided for the number of people expected to attend any premises or events
- Fly posting;

- Management arrangements for any proposed use of bonfires, fireworks and other pyrotechnics;
- Any concerns / representations raised by a Responsible Authority such as the Pollution Control Authority, Licensing Authority or Greater Manchester Police.

**10.7** The following examples of control measures are given to assist applicants who may need to take account of them in their operating schedule, having regard to their particular type of premises and/or activities:

- Effective and responsible management of premises;
- · Appropriate instruction, training and supervision of those employed or
- engaged to prevent incidents of public nuisance e.g. to ensure customers leave quietly;
- Control of operating hours for all or parts (e.g. Gardens) of the premises, including such matters as deliveries;
- · Adoption of best practice guidance;
- Installation of sound proofing, air conditioning, acoustic lobbies and sound limitation devises;
- The steps taken or proposed to be taken by the applicant to prevent disturbance by customers arriving at or leaving the premises. This will usually be of greater importance late at night and/or in the early hours of the morning. However, nuisance can arise at any time of the day or night;
- Liaison with public transport providers;
- The level of likely disturbance from associated vehicular and pedestrian
- movement to and from the premises;
- · The delivery and collection areas and delivery/collection times;
- Siting of external lighting, including security lighting;
- · Management arrangements for the collection and disposal of litter;
- The history of previous nuisance complaints proved against the premises, particularly where statutory notices have been served on the present licence holder;
- The generation of odour, e.g. from the preparation of food;
- Provision of details pertaining to local taxi or private hire companies;
   and
- Effective ventilation systems to prevent nuisance from odour.

- 10.8 Noise may often be created by patrons and/or their modes of transport arriving and leaving licensed premises, or from machinery or vehicles belonging to the licence holder's business, refuse collection and deliveries. Discarding of wrappers, bottles, cans and general litter may also present problems in relation to particular premises. Whilst not in themselves a licensable activity, there may be occasion (such as in residential areas) where these factors are taken into account as part of the determination process and conditions may be imposed.
- 10.9 Following implementation of the Health Act, no person is permitted to smoke inside any substantially enclosed licensed premises (subject to the provisions of the Health Act) and as such is required to smoke outside. The Licensing Authority will consider any representation relating to noise, antisocial behaviour or smoke drift associated with this activity in relation to any licensed premises and will consider any appropriate and proportionate conditions on an individual basis.
- **10.10** In order to prevent breaches of the Health Act 2006, the Licensing Authority may attach conditions to a premises licence to restrict the sale of tobacco, shisha tobacco and shisha pipes at certain premises.
- **10.11** The extent to which the above matters need to be addressed will be dependent on the nature of the area where the premises are situated, the type of premises concerned, the licensable activities to be provided, operational procedures and the needs of the local community. In general, however, the Council will expect more comprehensive measures to be in place at late night entertainment venues or in premises with a history of public nuisance issues.
- 10.12 The Council will have regard to representations from the Responsible Authorities to determine if measures proposed are sufficient to reduce the risk of public nuisance. Where representations indicate that any matter has not been addressed sufficiently to prevent public nuisance the applicant will be expected to demonstrate that the issues can be satisfactorily addressed before the Council will grant an application for a licence or a variation.
- **10.13** Where appropriate the applicant will be expected to propose practical steps to prevent disturbance to local residents and to have regard to the

"Good Practice Guide on the Control of Noise from Pubs and Clubs" produced by the Institute of Acoustics. Where noise has been identified as a potential problem by the applicant or Council officers, then the Council would expect the applicant to detail the measures proposed to address this issue within the operating schedule. Noise could relate not only to music but also from air handling equipment or from patrons. There are a number of practical ways in which sound leakage can be addressed, such as:

- Keeping doors and windows closed and providing adequate mechanical ventilation or, if necessary, air conditioning;
- Reducing sound levels and installing a sound limiting device to prevent sound exceeding the appropriate level;
- Installing soundproofing measures to contain sound and vibration.

**10.14** In premises where patrons leave the premises particularly late at night or early in the morning, the Council will expect the applicant to have included in the operating schedule practical steps for reducing noise disturbance, such as:

- Erecting prominent notices at the exits to premises asking customers to leave quietly and not to slam car doors, and to respect the rights of nearby residents;
- At appropriate times making loudspeaker announcements to the same effect;
- Instructing door staff to ask customers leaving the premises to leave the area quietly;
- Reducing the volume of music towards the end of the evening and where appropriate playing quieter, more soothing music as the evening winds down;
- Banning from the premises people who regularly leave in a noisy manner;
- The supervision of any queues formed late in the evening so as to keep noise and disturbance to a minimum.

**10.15** Where relevant representations have been received, conditions may be imposed which include restrictions on the times when music or other licensable activities may take place and may include technical restrictions on sound levels at the premises.

**10.16** In considering an application, the Council will take into account previous noise and nuisance complaints, and the ability/willingness of the licensee to deal with such complaints.

#### 11.0 Protection of Children from Harm

- 11.1 The Council is committed to protecting children from harm and views this as an important licensing objective. Nevertheless, the Council has taken account of the view of the Government that the use of licensed premises by children should be encouraged. The Council recognises the wide variety of premises for which licences may be granted. It also recognises that there are many circumstances where it is appropriate for children to be present on licensed premises and seeks to encourage their access to constructive leisure pursuits which support the social fabric of the Borough. It also recognises that there are circumstances where it is appropriate to limit or prevent access by children for the prevention of harm.
- 11.2 It should be noted that it is unlawful under the 2003 Act to permit unaccompanied children under the age of 16 to be present on premises exclusively or primarily used for supply of alcohol for consumption on those premises under the authorisation of a premises licence, club premises certificate or a temporary event notice when open for the purposes of being used for the supply of alcohol for consumption there. In addition, it is an offence to permit the presence of children under 16 who are not accompanied by an adult between midnight and 5am at all premises supplying alcohol for consumption on those premises under the authorisation of any premises licence, club premises certificate or temporary event notice. Conditions duplicating these provisions are, therefore, inappropriate.
- 11.3 Within this objective is included the protection of children from moral, psychological and physical harm and in relation to the exhibition of films, transmission of programmes or videos or provision of certain other types of regulated entertainment, this includes the protection of children from exposure to strong language and sexual expletives. There are certain circumstances where children are more vulnerable with their needs therefore, requiring special consideration. Such circumstances would include striptease, lap, table or pole dancing, performances involving feigned violence, feigned or actual sexual acts or entertainment involving strong and offensive language. This vulnerability includes their susceptibility to suggestion, peer group influences, inappropriate example and the unpredictability of their age and the lack of understanding of danger.

- **11.4** Applicants will be expected to demonstrate in their operating schedule that suitable and sufficient measures have been identified and will be implemented and maintained to protect children from harm, relevant to the individual style and characteristics of their premises and events.
- 11.5 When addressing the issue of protecting children from harm, the applicant must demonstrate that those factors that impact on harm to children have been considered. Areas that will give rise to particular concern to the licensing authority in respect of children are:
  - Where entertainment or services of an adult or sexual nature are provided;
  - Where there have been convictions, warnings, notices or cautions for serving alcohol to minors or premises with a reputation for under-age drinking;
  - With a known association for drug taking or dealing;
  - Where there is a strong element of gambling on the premises; and
  - Where the supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises is the
  - exclusive or primary purpose of the services provided at the premises.
  - There have been representations from police, the local Safeguarding
  - Children Board, trading standards, Police, Licensing Authority or any other responsible authority, or relevant agency / representative.
- 11.6 The following are examples of possible control measures, although are not exhaustive and not relevant in all cases. They are considered however, to be amongst the most essential measures that applicants should take account of in their operating schedule, having regard to their particular type of premises and /or activities:
  - · Effective and responsible management of premises;
  - Provision of a sufficient number of people employed or engaged to secure protection of children from harm;
  - Appropriate instruction, training and supervision of those employed or engaged to secure protection of children from harm;
  - Staff attendance at an Age Verification training scheme;
  - · Adoption of best practice guidance;
  - Limitations on the hours when children may be present in all parts of the premises;

- Limitations or exclusions by age when certain activities are taking place;
- Imposition of requirements for children to be accompanied by adults;
- Acceptance of accredited proof of age schemes such as "Challenge 25" or photographic identification such as passports and photo-card driving licences;
- Refusals books to record all refused sales of alcohol to those who are presumed to be underage;
- Measures to ensure children do not purchase, acquire or consume alcohol; and
- Measures to ensure children are not exposed to violence or disorder.
- Arrangements taken or proposed to prevent children from acquiring or consuming alcohol
- Steps taken or proposed to prevent children from being exposed to drugs, drug taking or drug dealing
- Arrangements taken or proposed to prevent children from being exposed to gambling
- Steps taken or proposed to prevent children from being exposed to activities of an adult or sexual nature
- Steps taken or proposed to prevent children from being exposed to incidents of violence or disorder
- Measures taken or proposed to prevent children from being exposed to excessive noise
- Measures taken or proposed to prevent children from being exposed to special hazards such as falls from height
- Steps taken or proposed to prevent children from purchasing cigarettes from vending machines
- Arrangements for appropriate instruction, training and supervision of those employed or engaged to secure the protection of children from harm
- premises restrictions on the access by children to the whole or any part of the premises, including times when children may not be present.
- 11.7 The Council will have regard to representations from the Social Services and other child protection agencies to determine if measures proposed are sufficient to ensure that children are adequately protected from harm. Where representations indicate that any matter has not been addressed sufficiently to avoid a potential negative impact on the protection of children from harm,

the applicant will be expected to demonstrate that the issues can be satisfactorily addressed before the Council will grant an application for a licence or a variation of a licence.

11.8 In recognising the importance of the issue of under-age drinking, licensees are not able to provide alcohol to children, except where a 16 or 17-year-old consumes beer, wine or cider with a table meal in circumstances where he is accompanied by a person aged 18 or over. Therefore, applicants must be able to demonstrate that they have in place satisfactory arrangements to prevent sales of alcohol to children including a recognised or appropriate proof-of-age scheme. The Council would be supportive of arrangements, which include incorporating any of the following:

- Passport
- Photo Card driving licence issued in the European Union
- Proof of Age Scheme Card
- 'New type' driving licences with photographs
- Official ID card issued by the HM Forces or by a European Union country bearing a photo and date of birth of holder
- · Citizen Card supported by the Home Office.

11.9 Applicants may wish to specify a 'cut-off time' after which children would not be allowed to remain on the premises. In considering whether to impose a 'specified cut-off time' by way of condition, the Council will take into account:

- The concerns of responsible authorities and interested persons who have made representations;
- The steps set out in an operating schedule which the licensee will take to protect children from harm on such premises;
- The type of event for which no age restriction may be needed e.g. family entertainment; non-alcohol events.
- **11.10** Issues with regard to access of children to premises are likely to arise in premises where any of the following apply:
  - convictions for serving alcohol to minors or premises with a reputation for, or inadequate arrangements to deter, under-age drinking;

- a known association with, or inadequate arrangements to deter, drug taking or dealing;
- · a strong element of gambling on the premises;
- entertainment of an adult or sexual nature is commonly provided;
- inadequate arrangements to protect children from the supply and use of other products which it is illegal to supply to children;
- where the supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises is the exclusive or primary purpose of the services provided at the premises.
- **11.11** Where such matters have been identified in an applicant's operating schedule or where relevant representations have been received, conditions dealing with the following matters may be appropriate:
  - Limitations on the hours when children may be present;
  - Age limitations below 18;
  - Limitations or exclusions when certain activities are taking place;
  - · Access limited to parts of the premises;
  - · Requirements for accompanying adults;
  - Full exclusion of people under 18 from the premises when any licensable activities are taking place.
- **11.12** No conditions will be imposed to the effect that children must be admitted to licensed premises.
- 11.13 Licensees of all premises supplying alcohol are encouraged to adopt a policy of requiring proof of age where there is any doubt about the age of any person attempting to purchase alcohol, accepting such documents as passports, driving licences and accredited proof of age schemes such as PASS or similar schemes. Licensees are also encouraged to display prominently signs displaying information that under 18's will not be served alcohol and that those who appear under 25 will be asked to prove their age.
- **11.14** The Council's Trading Standards Team investigate all complaints or allegations regarding the under-age sale of alcohol and conduct intelligence led test purchase enforcement operations as appropriate.
- 11.15 The Council requires all operators of cinemas to comply with the classification systems for films administered by the British Board of film

Classification and to ensure that procedures are in place to achieve compliance with the age classification system in existence at any time. The Council accepts the BBFC classification.

- 11.16 In the case of a film exhibition that has not been classified, in addition to the Council's assessment, the licensee will be expected to conduct an assessment of the suitability of the film for exhibition to children and to implement measures that restrict viewing by children where the Council deem it necessary.
- **11.17** The Council will impose a mandatory condition restricting access only to persons who meet the required age limit in line with any certificate granted by the British Board of Film Classification or the Council.
- **11.18** The Council will expect that licensees ensure that any age restrictions for cinema exhibitions are properly complied with.
- **11.19** In considering applications, the Council will take into account any evidence that age restrictions for cinema exhibitions are not being properly observed.

# Children and public entertainments

- **11.20** Where children are present at an event as entertainers, the Council will expect an adult to be nominated as responsible for such child performers.
- 11.21 Where there is provision of entertainment specifically for children (e.g. a children's disco or supervised play area) the Council will expect sufficient adult supervisors (with sufficient experience) to be present to control the access and egress of the children and secure the protection of children, including child performers, from harm, bearing in mind the number and ages of the children involved and any other issues such as disabilities that the children may have.
- **11.22** The Council will expect the premises to provide sufficient number of adult staff on the premises to ensure the wellbeing of the children during any emergency.

# Tackling child sexual exploitation

11.23 Alcohol is often a factor in Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE), where young people may be encouraged or coerced to drink, or alcohol may be a factor in risk-taking behaviour by young people who drink irresponsibly and then get involved in activities that otherwise they would not. Nationally, evidence has been found of the sexual exploitation of children taking place on licensed premises and licensed premises being used for the purposes of grooming and enticement.

**11.24** The licensing authority encourages licence holders and operators of licensed premises:

- To ensure that they are fully aware of the signs of child sexual exploitation and to understand that the sexual exploitation of a child is sexual abuse and a crime
- To raise the awareness of their staff about child sexual exploitation and provide intelligence for the appropriate authorities about concerns, including perpetrators who may be operating in their areas.

**11.25** The risks vary depending on the style and character of the business, but premises can be involved in the following ways:

- If an adult venue (night clubs or sex entertainment venue) is frequented by underage customers, this can attract perpetrators; or if a premises (or event) hosts under 18 events or mixed age activities;
- Where underage drinking takes place, children and young people are vulnerable as their judgement is impaired;
- There is a risk of CSE at premises where goods or services can be offered in exchange for sexual favours (such as free food, transport, drinks, cigarettes, or free access to a venue). This can happen if a perpetrator is employed there (or works voluntarily) and has regular or private contact with children;
- Children and young people are vulnerable in areas of premises that are not monitored (such as toilets, beer gardens);
- Risk may present if information technology is in use at a premises (internet, mobile phones/cameras/video recorders);
- Premises providing facilities for private parties, private dancing/entertainment booths or overnight accommodation may be vulnerable to child sexual exploitation.

- 11.26 Nevertheless, the licensing authority has taken account of the view of the Government that the use of licensed premises by children should be encouraged where appropriate.
- 11.27 Venue operators seeking premises and club premises certificates may wish to volunteer prohibitions and restrictions in their operating schedules because their own risk assessments have determined that the presence of children is undesirable or inappropriate. Where no relevant representations, to the contrary, are made to the Council, these volunteered prohibitions and restrictions will become conditions attaching to the licence or certificate and will be enforceable as such.
- **11.28** Under the Licensing Act 2003, the 'due diligence' defence can be used to protect your business, if you can demonstrate that all reasonable steps have been taken to manage risk. Here are some suggested safeguarding measures to help evidence 'due diligence' and keep children safe:
  - Undertake a written children and young people's risk assessment and use it to inform your operating policy and staff training;
  - Staff should be trained to recognise indicators of child sexual exploitation and know how to report concerns;
  - Staff should be trained to operate an age verification scheme, know what types of identification are acceptable and to recognise signs of proxy purchase of alcohol;
  - Staff training records should be maintained;
  - Activity at the premises should be monitored (for example using CCTV or by regular patrols. Patrol records should be maintained);
  - Suspicious activity should be reported to the police (including details such as vehicle registration numbers, description of individuals) and should be recorded in your incident log;
  - If you, or your staff, are in a situation involving the supervision of a vulnerable young person at your premise, it is important to follow a consistent and auditable protocol;
  - If you have a hot food delivery service enforce a code of conduct to promote good safeguarding practice when deliveries are made to unaccompanied children.

#### 12.0 Sex Establishment Venues

- **12.1** Where activities under a new licence would regularly include those with a sex related element, the premises may also require a sex establishment venue licence.
- **12.2** A sex establishment venue is defined as any premises where any live performance or any live display of nudity is of such a nature, regardless of financial gain, it must reasonably be assumed to have been provided solely or mainly for the purpose of sexually stimulating any member of the audience (eg. striptease, table dancing, topless waitresses).
- 12.3 Therefore, a new premises may need to hold both a licence issued under the Licensing Act 2003 to allow the premises to sell alcohol; and a licence issued under Schedule 3 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 (as amended) to allow the premises to be used as a sexual entertainment venue.
- 12.4 Where an existing licensed premises provides or wishes to provide sex related activity, the Council will expect the premises licence holder to assess the impact of the proposed activity on the licensing objectives and, where appropriate, apply to vary the conditions attached to the premises licence to take account of any increased risk. This may avoid a possible review of the premises licence from an interested party or responsible authority. Where it is deemed appropriate to seek a variation to the premises licence, the Council will expect the application to vary the premises licence to accompany the application for a sexual entertainment venue licence.
- **12.5** A hardcopy copy of the Council's policy on sex establishment licensing is available from the Licensing Office, Town Hall, Talbot Road, Stretford, M32 0TH or from the Council's website.

## 13.0 Promotion of Other Strategies

# Reducing the strength

- **13.1** The Licensing authority intends to introduce a "Reduce the Strength" campaign. The campaign aims to restrict the availability of beer, lager and cider which has an ABV of 6% or above.
- **13.2** Businesses are encouraged to sign up to the scheme and promotional posters and window stickers can be obtained from the licensing team free of charge.
- 13.3 Applicants for new or variation applications which include a request to sell alcohol for consumption off the premises are encouraged to include membership of the scheme within their operating schedule. Details of the wording of a suitable condition can be viewed in local pool of licence conditions at **Appendix C**.
- **13.4** Where applicants do not propose membership of the scheme within their operating schedule and there is evidence of street drinking within the vicinity of the premises, the licensing sub-committee may, if appropriate, attach a condition prohibiting the sale of beer, lager or cider with an ABV equal to or exceeding 6%.

# **Boxing**

- **13.5** The rise in popularity of White-Collar Boxing has encouraged the Council to provide guidance on the Licensing Authorities expectations for any boxing promoters to consider as measures for their operating schedule.
- **13.6** The following is guidance for organisers of boxing events in the Trafford Council area regarding the issues that should be included in a risk assessment:
  - Full contact details of the organisers and other parties involved in the event:
  - The medical cover that will be provided at this event. Will there be a

- Registered Doctor and a Paramedic will be provided as a minimum. Has the facility of providing an ambulance been considered for the event? The Council would prefer that an ambulance is provided;
- The medical checks that will be carried out on the boxers before and after the fight. The Council would expect all boxers taking part to have a medical card and competition record book. This should detail previous bouts, medical history etc.;
- How boxers will be matched up for the event. All boxers will be expected to be evenly matched and fall in the same weight category;
- Details of the ring set up and who will be carrying this out;
- The numbers of referees and judges taking part in the event;
- The type and weight of boxing gloves that will be used by the boxers and how these will be inspected;
- What will be the safety rules for the fight and how these rules will be communicated to the boxers, coaches, trainers and other relevant parties;
- Details of the Personal Protective Equipment that will be worn by boxers;
- Actions that will be taken in an emergency and how parties will communicate;
- Site checks that will be completed prior to the event taking place.

#### 14.0 Conditions

- **14.1** Conditions include any limitations or restrictions attached to a licence or certificate, and essentially are the steps the holder of the premises licence or the club premises certificate will be required to take at all times when licensable activities are taking place at the premises in question.
- **14.2** Conditions will be attached to licences and certificates only where they are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives.
- 14.3 In addition to the original mandatory conditions imposed upon the introduction of the Act, Schedule 4 of the Policing and Crime Act 2009 amended the Act to give the Secretary of State the power to impose new mandatory licensing conditions in relation to the supply of alcohol under the authority of a premises licence or club premises certificate. All mandatory licensing conditions apply to all existing and future premises licences which authorise the sale or supply of alcohol. These conditions override any conditions already included in a premises licence or club premises certificate, so far as they are identical to the existing conditions or inconsistent with, and more onerous than, the existing conditions. The new conditions will apply to every licence and certificate authorising the sale or supply of alcohol from the date that they come into force.
- 14.4 The conditions that are necessary for the promotion of the licensing objectives should emerge initially from a prospective licence or certificate holders risk assessment. This would be translated into the measures recorded in the operating schedule that it is proposed to take to promote the licensing objectives. The operating schedule must also set out the proposed hours of opening. The proposals will then be made available to expert bodies, who are the responsible authorities described in the 2003 Act, and by interested parties such as local residents.
- 14.5 Licensing is concerned with the appropriate control of licensed premises, qualifying clubs, temporary events and the people who manage them or hold personal licences within the terms of the 2003 Act. Where relevant representations are made, the Licensing Authority will seek to make

objective judgements as to whether it may be appropriate to attach conditions to various authorisations to secure achievement of the licensing objectives.

- **14.6** Any conditions arising from the operating schedule or as a result of representations will primarily focus on the direct impact of the activities taking place at licensed premises and members of the public living, working or otherwise engaged in normal activity in the area concerned and will cover matters that are within the control of individual licensees.
- 14.7 Should issues not be addressed within the operating schedule to the satisfaction of any responsible authority, resulting in representations being made, further appropriate conditions may be placed on licences. These conditions may be drawn from the local pool of model licensing conditions, see Appendix C, or may be specially formulated to be relevant to a particular situation. Conditions will only relate to matters which the licensee can be expected to control and will relate to the premises themselves, the immediate vicinity around the premises and will focus on the impact of those activities on those living, working or otherwise engaged in the area concerned. The licensing regime exists to ensure that licensed premises and events within the terms of the Act are regulated so that they are both safe and cause a minimum of disturbance.
- 14.8 Conditions will only be placed on licences if they are considered appropriate to meet the licensing objectives. Duplication caused by licence conditions that are dealt with by means of other legislation, for example health and safety at work or fire safety, will be avoided. Conditions will only be attached to premises licences and club premises certificates that are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives if not already provided for in other legislation. However, certain safety legislation includes exemptions because it is assumed that licensing controls will provide the appropriate coverage. In such cases conditions will be imposed that are considered appropriate.
- **14.9** The Licensing Authority acknowledges that the licensing function cannot be used for the general control of anti-social behaviour of individuals once beyond the direct control of the licensee of any premises concerned. However, it should be noted that the licensee bears a degree of responsibility for persons not only in but also around the immediate vicinity of the premise,

when those persons are either entering or exiting the licensed premise, or are loitering within the boundary of the premise.

**14.10** Other mechanisms may be utilised where appropriate to tackle unruly or unlawful behaviour of customers when beyond the control of the individual Public house, club or business that holds the licence, certificate or authorisation concerned. These include:

- Planning controls;
- Positive measures to create a safe and clean town environment in partnership with local businesses, transport operators and other departments of the local authority;
- The provision of CCTV surveillance in and around the Borough, provision of public conveniences, street cleaning and litter patrols;
- Powers of the local authority or police to designate parts of the Borough as areas where alcohol may not be consumed publicly;
- Police enforcement of the general law concerning disorder and antisocial behaviour, including the issuing of fixed penalty notices;
- The prosecution of any personal licence holder or member of staff at such premises that is selling alcohol to people who are drunk;
- The confiscation of alcohol from adults and children in designated areas;
- Police and local authority powers to close down instantly for up to 24 hours any licensed premises or temporary events on grounds of disorder, the likelihood of disorder, or noise emanating from the premises that is causing a nuisance; and
- The power of the police, other responsible authorities or local residents and businesses to seek a review of the licence or certificate in question.

14.11 If an applicant volunteers a restriction or prohibition in their operating schedule or following a relevant representation, this will become a condition attached to any licence or certificate issued and will be enforceable as such. Where the responsible authorities and interested parties do not raise any representations about the proposals made to the Council, the Council will grant the licence or certificate subject only to conditions that are consistent with the operating schedule accompanying the application and any mandatory conditions prescribed in the Act itself.

- 14.12 The Licensing Authority recognises that all applications should be considered on their own merits and any conditions imposed must be tailored to that individual premises. This will avoid the implementation of disproportionate and burdensome conditions. Standard conditions other than mandatory conditions, will be avoided and no condition will be imposed that cannot be shown to be appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. However, a condition whether volunteered or otherwise, must be measurable and as such the Licensing Authority may alter the wording of a condition to make it such (without changing the context of the condition) and will keep a bank of worded conditions that may be used in respect of a premises if and when such a condition is considered appropriate to meet one or more of the licensing objectives.
- **14.13** In order to minimise disputes and the necessity for hearings, applicants are encouraged to consult with all responsible authorities when operating schedules are being prepared. This would allow for proper liaison before representations prove necessary.
- **14.14** Conditions attached to licences and certificates will be tailored as appropriate to reflect the individual style and characteristics of the premises and events concerned.
- **14.15** If the existing law already places certain statutory responsibilities on an employer or operator of premises, the Council will not duplicate these duties through the use of licensed conditions.
- **14.16** Conditions will also not be set which replicate licensing offences that are set out in the Act, for example:
  - to sell or supply alcohol to a person who is drunk;
  - to knowingly allow disorderly conduct on licensed premises;
  - for the holder of a premises licence or a designated premises supervisor to knowingly keep or to allow to be kept on licensed premises any goods that have been imported without payment of duty or which have otherwise been unlawfully imported
  - to allow the presence of children under 16 who are not accompanied by an adult between midnight and 5am at any premises licensed for the sale of alcohol for consumption on the premises, and at any time in

premises used exclusively or primarily for the sale and consumption of alcohol.

# Mandatory conditions

**14.17** The 2003 Act provides for mandatory conditions to be included in every licence and/or club premises certificate. A set of the current mandatory conditions is attached at **Appendix A** to this policy.

#### Model conditions

**14.18** Standardised conditions will be avoided. However, the Licensing Authority has produced model conditions to provide a consistent approach for all parties by specifying appropriate conditions that could be included on any licence or certificate granted. This could be by the applicant in designing the operating schedule, by other parties in seeking to address concerns associated with the application, or ultimately, by the Licensing Authority when imposing conditions is considered appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives.

**14.19** The model conditions are not an exhaustive list, and they do not restrict the ability of any party to suggest, or the Committee to impose, any condition they consider appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. The set of model conditions is attached at **Appendix C**.

### 15.0 Strategic Links

**15.1** There are a range of strategic influences which affect the licensing system in terms of policy formulation, administration and enforcement activities. Whilst the following is not meant to be an exhaustive list, it identifies how the Council will secure proper integration with local strategies.

# Tourism, culture and employment

**15.2** The Council recognises that the entertainment/leisure industry is a major contributor to the economy and cultural development of the Borough. It attracts tourists and visitors, makes for vibrant towns and communities and is a major employer.

**15.3** The Council has prepared a Tourism framework which forms part of the Economic Development Plan highlighting the importance of retaining and enhancing the range of quality hospitality venues (bars, restaurants, clubs) as well as conference and meeting venues in the Borough.

**15.4** Hotels, restaurants, clubs, pubs, and entertainment are all elements which contribute to the effectiveness of a destination as a tourist centre. It is estimated that some 83% of tourist spending is upon accommodation, eating, drinking, shopping and entertainment.

**15.5** Special events can raise the profile of an area, add animation and life to existing attractions; encourage repeat visits and encourage visitors to stay overnight. Research also indicates that a high proportion of ABC1's, with relatively high spending power, attend urban events and festivals. Hosting events also opens up the opportunity to attend events for local people who are unable for whatever reason to travel to attend such events.

**15.6** As part of implementing the Council's cultural strategies, proper account will be taken of the need to encourage and promote a broad range of entertainment, particularly live music, dancing and theatre, for the wider cultural benefit of communities (e.g. community involvement, social inclusion and cultural understanding). The potential for limited disturbance in neighbourhoods will always be carefully balanced with these wider benefits, particularly for children.

- **15.7** In determining what conditions should be attached to licences and certificates, the Council will be aware of the need to avoid measures which deter live music, dancing and theatre by imposing indirect costs of a disproportionate nature.
- 15.8 The Council will monitor the impact of licensing on regulated entertainment, and particularly live music and dancing. Where there is any indication that such events are being deterred by licensing requirements, the policy will be revisited with a view to investigating how the situation might be reversed. Care will be taken to ensure that only necessary, proportionate and reasonable licensing conditions impose any restrictions on such events.
- **15.9** Arrangements will be made for the Licensing Committee to receive, when appropriate, reports on the needs of the local tourist economy and the cultural strategy for the area to ensure that these are reflected in their considerations.
- **15.10** The Licensing Committee will also be kept appraised of the employment situation in the area and the need for new investment and employment where appropriate.

#### Crime and disorder

- **15.11** Under Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 the Council have a duty to consider crime and disorder reduction in the exercise of all its duties. The Licensing Act 2003 complements this duty for licensing authorities.
- **15.12** Trafford's Crime and Disorder Strategy 2012-2015 Local Area Agreement and the Strategic Assessment establishes the framework for reducing crime and disorder in the Borough and is underpinned by 8 delivery plans. The delivery plans are for the reduction and prevention of:
  - Robbery
  - Harm Crime
  - Domestic Abuse
  - Theft of Pedal Cycle
  - Vehicle Crime
  - Burglary

**15.13** Safer Trafford Partnership is a multi-agency partnership group which is responsible for addressing a wide range of local crime and disorder and community safety issues within the Trafford area. The work of the partnership is co-ordinated by the Safer Trafford Partnership Board, which oversees the implementation of the Crime and Disorder Strategy.

15.14 The Safer Trafford Partnership has adopted the National Intelligence Method (NIM) of working. Under this process the Safer Trafford Partnership receives an annual assessment of Crime in Trafford and is responsible for putting in place an Opportunities Strategy to deliver a menu of partnership tactics to reduce crime in the areas identified. Drug and alcohol related crime is a strategic objective and partnership tactics possibly involving licensing issues will form part of a monitored control strategy. A delivery structure beneath the Board has been put in place to develop such control strategies both strategically (Strategic Partnership Business Group, ¼ meeting and tactically (Trafford Partnership Business Group, monthly meeting) and operational local delivery via the four thematic groups, Area, Reassurance, Offender and Harm Crime.

### **Alcohol**

**15.15** The National Alcohol Harm Reduction Strategy identifies a number of priorities which local authorities will take into account when making decisions on relevant applications.

**15.16** In conducting its licensing function, the Council will be mindful of relevant strategies and policies, including the following:

- The National Alcohol Harm Reduction Strategy for England;
- Other recognised codes of practice, including those relating to drinks' promotions, e.g. The Point of Sale Promotions published by the British Beer and Pub Association:
- The Greater Manchester Drug & Alcohol Strategy;
- Public Places Prohibition of Drinking Orders.

Such policies will also be relevant when considering relevant representations.

## **Drugs**

15.17 The Government has produced guidance entitled the 'Safer Clubbing Guide' in order to improve safety for all club goers and in particular to reduce the risk of harm associated with drug use and clubbing. The licensing regime is expected to use a range of conditions to control the environment at club premises. Where the licensing regime can impact on factors which increase the risk to safety of those taking drugs, the Council will take a proactive role in addressing these matters through partnership arrangements with the Police, club owners and local drug agencies.

**15.18** Guidance for club owners and promoters on safe clubbing can be found here http://www.csdp.org/research/safer clubbing txt.pdf

### Anti-social behaviour

15.19 The Council maintains that licensing law is not a mechanism for the general control of nuisance and anti-social behaviour by individuals once they are away from licensed premises and, therefore, beyond the direct control of the individual, club or business holding the licence, certificate or authorisation concerned. Nonetheless, it is a key aspect of such control and licensing law will be part of a holistic approach to the management of the evening and night-time economy in town and city centres.

**15.20** Once away from licensed premises, a minority of consumers will behave badly and unlawfully. The Council recognise that other mechanisms for addressing these issues exist both within and outside the licensing regime, for example:

- Planning controls which take into account possible disturbance to adjoining occupiers, particularly of residential accommodation;
- Positive measures to create a safe and clean town centre environment in partnership with local businesses, transport operators and other departments of the local authority;
- The provision of CCTV surveillance in town centres, ample taxi ranks, provision of public conveniences open late at night, street cleaning and litter patrols;

- Powers of local authorities to designate parts of the local authority area as places where alcohol may not be consumed publicly;
- Police enforcement of the normal law concerning disorder and antisocial behaviour, including the issuing of fixed penalty notices;
- The prosecution of any personal licence holder or member of staff at such premises who is selling alcohol to people who are drunk;
- The confiscation of alcohol from adults and children in designated areas:
- Police powers to close down instantly for up to 24 hours any licensed premises or temporary events on grounds of disorder, the likelihood of disorder or excessive noise emanating from the premises causing a nuisance; and
- The power of the Police, other responsible authorities or a local resident or business to seek a review of the licence or certificate in question.

**15.21**The Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 and the Violent Crime Reduction Act 2006 are designed to provide local authorities and the Police with a wider, more flexible range of powers to meet existing responsibilities and respond to the needs of their communities. The Anti-Social, Crime and Disorder Act 2014 was introduced to simplify powers available to the police and Local Authorities in relation to crime and anti-social behaviour.

### 16.0 Other Regulatory Systems

16.1 Other statutory obligations which fall outside the requirements of the Licensing Act 2003 may apply to the provision of any regulated activities at a premises and the responsibility for compliance lies with the licence holder. For example, if the activity involves the preparation and/or sale of food then it is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure that all appropriate Food Safety legal requirements are met, or if alcohol is sold the full weights and measures requirements are met. It would be expected that a licensee would have registered the premises as a food business with Trafford Council. Such registration is not a Licensing requirement however businesses are expected to comply with all relevant food safety and weights and measures legislation. Many of the specific licensing requirements relate to matters potentially affecting public safety.

16.2 In addition to these licensing requirements there are wider duties on all business (whatever their legal status and regardless of whether a licence is needed) to protect the health and safety of employees (and the self-employed) as well as the public. Some of these duties are deliberately wide, generalised and all-encompassing e.g. main duties under Section 2, 3, & 4 of the Health & Safety at Work etc. Act 1974, others are very specific e.g. requirements under the Control of Substances Hazardous to Health Regulations 2002, and do not apply in all circumstances. Some of these duties are absolute under law and have to be complied with, without exception e.g. hoists and lifting equipment must be examined by a competent person at prescribed intervals. These Health & Safety duties tend to include all specific safety requirements under licensing requirements for the public on the premises and extend them to cover the safety of others e.g. staff, contractors, passers-by etc. There is considerable overlap between the licensing regime and the wider health & safety regimes.

**16.3** The Licensing Authority will seek to achieve integration with relevant strategies and their aims in determining applications and will do so through relevant consultation of this policy and individual applications.

# Planning control

**16.3** Planning and licensing regimes will be properly separated to avoid duplication and inefficiency. Licensing applications will not be a re-run of the planning application and licensing decisions will not cut across decisions taken by the planning committee or permissions granted on appeal.

**16.4** Planning permission is usually required for the establishment of new premises and the change of use of premises. In general, all premises that apply for a licence must also obtain or have obtained authorised planning permission and comply with all conditions of that planning permission or benefit from permitted development rights pursuant to the General Permitted Development Order (1995). Planning permissions that are relevant to licensed premises include:

- a retail shop, licensed for the sale of liquor for example (A1);
- the use of premises for the sale and consumption of food and drink on the premises or where hot food is sold for consumption off the premises, including restaurants, bars and takeaways (A3);
- assembly and leisure use, including cinemas, concert and indoor/outdoor sports and recreation (D2);
- a hotel that has a restaurant or bar included in its authorised use (C1).

**16.5** Under the current Use Classes Order, planning permission is generally required if the use of an existing premises changes use class. For example, planning permission would be required for a change from a shop (A1) to a restaurant or bar (A3). Planning permission is not required if the use of existing premises changes to a use within the same use class. For example, planning permission would not normally be required for a change from a restaurant (A3) to a bar (A3).

**16.6** When applying for planning permission the Council, as local planning authority, will consider the potential impacts and benefits of the proposed use within the context of the local development plan and relevant Government guidance and other material planning considerations.

**16.7** In circumstances where any restriction has been placed on the use of premises (through the imposition of planning conditions) prior to an

application being made for a licence, certificate or provisional statement, consideration will be given to the extent to which the application meets the overall licensing objectives and the policies contained within this statement.

**16.8** Where necessary, conditions will be attached to a certificate, licence or provisional statement in order to achieve the objectives of this policy. The granting of a licence, certificate or provisional statement will not override any requirement of the planning system. The licensing system will provide the detailed control of operational matters, which are unlikely to be addressed through planning processes, however there will be overlapping issues of interest i.e. disturbance, which will remain material considerations for planning purposes.

**16.9** The licensing committee will, where appropriate, provide reports to the planning committee on the situation regarding licensed premises in the area, including the general impact of alcohol related crime and disorder. This will enable the planning committee to have regard to such matters when taking its decisions but will also avoid any unnecessary duplication of controls.

# **Building control**

**16.10** Building Regulations govern a variety of issues, which will directly contribute to the licensing objectives, including means of escape, structural integrity, accessibility and public safety. "Approved Inspectors" offer a private sector alternative to local authority Building Control services.

**16.11** Building Regulations Approval and Completion Certificates will be required prior to the commencement of the use of premises for licensable activities.

# Health and safety at work

**16.12** The Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974(and other relevant statutory provisions) impose duties on employers, employees and persons in control of premises. Local authorities are the enforcing authority for the majority of premises on which licensable activities are carried on, and in other cases the Health and Safety Executive is responsible.

- **16.13** Licensing objectives overlap with health and safety requirements in so far as foreseeable risks to public safety would be covered by the duties imposed by relevant legislation.
- **16.14** The general duties under health and safety legislation (for example, to undertake a suitable and sufficient risk assessment) may not always adequately cover specific issues that arise on the premises in connection with, for example, certain types of entertainment. It is only where additional and supplementary measures are 'appropriate' for the promotion of the licensing objectives that conditions will need to be attached to a licence. Conditions will not be set which duplicate other requirements of the law.

# Statutory nuisance

**16.15** The Environmental Protection Act 1990 places a duty on local authorities to investigate complaints of nuisance (for example, noise), and take enforcement action where a statutory nuisance exists. The Licensing Act provides the power for the Police to close licensed premises (temporarily) to prevent nuisance to the public as a result of noise coming from the premises.

**16.16** The powers available to deal with noise nuisance have been extended by the Anti-Social Behaviour Act. These matters should be considered before deciding whether or not conditions are necessary for the prevention of public or statutory nuisance.

## Fire precautions

**16.17** In determining the provision of appropriate Fire Safety standards for licensed premises, Greater Manchester and Rescue Fire Service (GMFS) Fire Safety Officers will take into account the suitability and sufficiency of the premises fire risk assessment that must be undertaken by the person. From the 1st October 2006 the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 ('the Fire Safety Order') replaced previous fire safety legislation. As such any fire certificate issued under the Fire Precautions Act 1971 will cease to have effect.

**16.18** There will be close co-operation between the Council and GMFS to ensure that the public is properly protected.

- **16.19** Where Council inspections identify serious fire safety problems in premises which are subject to licence conditions which they cannot resolve easily or on which they require advice, they will contact the relevant Brigade Fire Safety Officer.
- **16.20** Where the premises are a sports ground that is covered by the Safety at Sports Grounds Act 1975, as amended, or the Fire Safety and Safety of Places of Sport Act 1987 the enforcing authority will be the Local Authority which is also the Licensing Authority.
- **16.21** It should be noted that under article 43 of the Fire Safety order any conditions imposed by the licensing authority that relate to any requirements or prohibitions that are or could be imposed by the order automatically cease to have effect, without the need to vary the licence. This means that licensing authorities will not seek to impose fire safety conditions where the order applies.
- **16.22** The exception to this is where the licensing authority and the enforcing authority for the fire safety order are one and the same body. For example, designated sports grounds and stands where the local authority enforces the fire safety order. In such circumstances fire safety conditions should not be set in new licences, but conditions in existing licences will remain in force and be enforceable by the licensing authority.
- **16.23**The Fire Safety order covers 'general fire precautions' and other fire safety duties which are needed to protect 'relevant persons in case of fire in and around 'most premises'. The Order requires fire precautions to be put in place 'where necessary' and to the extent that it is reasonable and practicable in the circumstances of the case.
- 16.24 The responsibility for complying with the order rests with the 'responsible person', which may be the employer, or any other person or people who may have control of the premises. Each responsible person must carry out a fire risk assessment which must focus on the safety in case of fire for all 'relevant persons'. The fire risk assessment is intended to identify risks that can be removed or reduced and to decide the nature and extent of the general fire precautions that need to be taken including, where necessary, capacity limits.

## The Equality Act 2010

**16.25** The Equality Act 2010 brings together over 116 separate pieces of legislation into one single Act. Combined they make up a new Act that provides a legal framework to protect the rights of individuals and advance equality of opportunity for all.

**16.26** The new framework covers a series of 'protected characteristics'. People who share these characteristics are regarded as being members of certain 'protected groups'. The protected characteristics are:

- o Race
- Disability
- o Age
- Religion or belief
- Sex
- Sexual orientation
- Gender reassignment
- Pregnancy and maternity
- Marriage and civil partnership

The Equalities Act requires all businesses to consider employees and service users in all protected groups.

**16.27** The 2010 Act also contains provision to tackle discrimination encountered by disabled people in the areas of employment, access to goods, facilities and services and the management, buying or renting of land or property. For service providers, such as licensees:

- it is unlawful to treat disabled people less favourably than other people for a reason related to their disability;
- they have to make reasonable adjustments for disabled people, such as providing extra help or making changes to the way they provide their services; and
- they will have to make reasonable adjustments to the physical features of their premises to overcome physical barriers to access.

## **Human Rights Act 1998**

**16.28** The Human Rights Act 1998 incorporates the European Convention on Human Rights and makes it unlawful for a local authority to act in a way that is incompatible with a Convention right. The Council will have particular regard to the following relevant provisions of the European Convention on Human Rights:

- Article 6 that in the determination of civil rights and obligations everyone is entitled to a fair and public hearing within a reasonable time by an independent and impartial tribunal established by law;
- Article 8 that everyone has the right to respect for his home and private life; and
- Article 1 of the First Protocol that every person is entitled to the peaceful enjoyment of his or her possessions (including for example the possession of a licence).

## The government's alcohol strategy

16.29 The Government has published an Alcohol Strategy in March 2012 for England which outlines how Authorities can address some of the Social Health and Crime & Disorder issues raised by the misuse of alcohol, particularly when the Licensing Authority is considering applications for any relevant licence made under the Licensing Act 2003. This strategy will be taken into account having regard to matters such as irresponsible drinking and reducing the availability of cheap alcohol etc.

## Government & police guidance for clubs and other licensed premises

16.30 For premises which may have problems with drugs, crime and disorder and/or are open late the Council will refer to the guidance given and will expect applicants in their operating schedules to use the strategies outlined in the Home Office Drug Strategy booklet - Safer Clubbing (ISBN Number: 1840827807). Copies of this booklet can be obtained from the Drug Prevention Advisory Service at www.drugs.gov.uk.

## 17.0 Cumulative Impact

17.1 "Cumulative impact" means the potential impact on the promotion of the licensing objectives of a significant number of licensed premises concentrated in one area. For example, the potential impact on crime and disorder or public nuisance on a town centre of a large concentration of licensed premises in that part of the local authority licensing area. In certain circumstances the number, type and density of premises selling alcohol for consumption on the premises may be such that there are serious problems of nuisance and disorder arising or beginning to arise outside or some distance from licensed premises. It is possible that the impact on surrounding areas of the behaviour of the customers of all premises taken together is greater in these circumstances than the usual impact from customers of individual premises.

**17.2** Guidance issued under S182 of the Act allows Councils to adopt a special saturation policy in such circumstances and specifies the steps to be followed in considering whether to adopt a special saturation policy. These steps require: -

- identification of concern about crime and disorder or public nuisance;
- consideration of whether it can be demonstrated that crime and disorder and nuisance are arising and are caused by the customers of licensed premises, and if so identifying the area from which problems are arising and the boundaries of that area; or that risk factors are such that the area is reaching a point when a cumulative impact is imminent;
- consultation with those specified in section 5(3) of the 2003 Act (see paragraph 22.1 of this policy document);
- subject to that consultation, inclusion in the Licensing Policy of a special policy about future premises licence or club premises certificate applications from that area;
- publication of the special policy as part of the Licensing Policy.

17.3 The effect of adopting a special saturation policy is to create a rebuttable presumption that applications for new premises licences or club premises certificates or material variations in the area(s) identified by the special policy

will normally be refused, if relevant representations to that effect are received, unless it can be demonstrated that the operation of the premises involved will not add to the cumulative impact already being experienced. Applicants would need to address the special policy issues in their operating schedules in order to rebut such a presumption.

17.4 When such a special saturation policy is adopted, each application will still be considered properly and on their own individual merit, and licenses and certificates that are unlikely to add to the cumulative impact on the licensing objectives will be granted. Following receipt of representations in respect of a new application for or a variation of a licence or certificate, the Council will consider whether it would be justified in departing from the special policy in the light of the individual circumstances of the case. The impact can be expected to be different for premises with different styles and characteristics. It will be for the Council to show that the grant of the application would undermine the promotion of one of the licensing objectives and if it would, that necessary conditions would be ineffective in preventing the problems involved.

**17.5** In considering such applications the Committee will have particular regard to:

- The occupancy figure for the proposed premises.
- The proximity of the premises to others in the Area licensed for similar activities and the occupancy figures for those other premises.
- Whether the proposed premises will act as a replacement for others in the Area that no longer have a licence.
- The proposed methods of management outlined in the applicant's operational plan.
- The proposed hours of operation.
- Transport provision for the Area.

17.6 Special saturation policies will never be used as a ground for revoking an existing licence or certificate when relevant representations are received about problems at those premises. Nor will they be used to justify rejecting applications to vary an existing licence or certificate except where those modifications directly affect the issue of cumulative impact (as would be the case with an application to vary a licence with a view to increasing the

capacity limits of the premises) and are strictly necessary for the promotion of the licensing objectives.

- 17.7 A special saturation policy will not impose quotas that restrict the consideration of any application on its individual merits or which seek to impose limitations on trading hours in particular areas. This is because quotas have no regard to the individual characteristics of the premises concerned. Public houses, nightclubs, restaurants, hotels, theatres, concert halls and cinemas all could sell alcohol, serve food and provide entertainment but with contrasting styles and characteristics. Proper regard will be given to those differences and the differing impact they will have on the promotion of the licensing objectives.
- 17.8 A special saturation policy will not include provisions for a terminal hour in a particular area.
- 17.9 Special saturation policies will be reviewed regularly (and at least every three years) to assess whether they are needed any longer or need expanding.
- 17.10 A special policy will not be used to revoke an existing licence should a request for a review be received.

## Special licensing policy

**17.11** On review of the special licensing policy for Altrincham and Sale Town Centre areas. Evidence provided was not substantial enough to justify keeping such a policy and therefore this was removed by Trafford Council.

## 18.0 Late-Night Levy

- **18.1** The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 introduced the power for the Licensing Authority to charge a late-night levy ("the levy") to all premises within its licensing area.
- **18.2** The late night levy is a discretionary power allowing the Council to collect an annual fee from all licensed premises in the area that are authorised to sell alcohol between the hours of midnight and 6.00am as a means of raising a contribution towards the costs of policing the night time economy.
- **18.3** As the powers are discretionary the Council, in its capacity as the Licensing Authority, must decide whether to introduce them; and in accordance with the 2011 Act in making that decision the Council must consider the cost of policing and other arrangements for reduction or prevention of crime and disorder in connection with the supply of alcohol between midnight and 6.00 am; and having regard to those costs, is there a desire to raise revenue to cover those costs.
- **18.4** In considering whether there is a 'desire' to introduce the late-night levy, the Licensing Authority must take into account the views of Greater Manchester Police, the licence holders that will be affected by the levy and the residents of the borough.
- **18.5** The decision to introduce, vary or cease the levy will be made by full Council in conjunction with the Greater Manchester Police.
- **18.6** The Licensing Authority recognises that this levy would cover the whole of the borough and not just those premises that are causing problems or those premises within any cumulative impact area. Therefore, serious consideration will be given to the introduction of the levy.
- **18.7** At the time of writing this policy, the Licensing Authority has not had a request to consider introducing a late-night levy. Should this change during the life of this policy then the designated procedure would be applied to determine if a late-night levy is appropriate.

# 19.0 Early Morning Alcohol Restriction Order (EMRO)

- **19.1** The power to make, vary or revoke an Early Morning Alcohol Restriction Order (EMRO) is set out in section 172A to 172E of the Licensing Act 2003.
- **19.2** An EMRO enables a licensing authority to prohibit the sale of alcohol for a specified time period between the hours of 12am and 6am in the whole or part of its area, if it is satisfied that this would be appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives.
- 19.3 EMROs are designed to address recurring problems such as high levels of alcohol related crime and disorder in specific areas at specific times; serious public nuisance and other instances of alcohol related anti-social behaviour which is not directly attributable to specific premises.
- **19.4** It is the Council's intention to support businesses rather than hinder them, whilst ensuring the promotion of the licensing objectives. However, where this has deemed to fail then an EMRO may be considered as a possible solution.
- **19.5** It is likely that any request for an EMRO will come from Greater Manchester Police; however, the request may also be made by a number of different organisations, for example, the request for an EMRO may originate from the Council, a strategic partner, Public Health or residents' association.
- **19.6** At the time of writing this policy, the Licensing Authority has not had a request to consider introducing an EMRO. Should this change during the life of this policy then the designated procedure would be applied to determine if an EMRO is appropriate.

#### 20.0 Personal Licences

- **20.1** Personal Licences authorise individuals to sell or supply alcohol and authorise the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on or off the premises for which a premises licence is in force for the carrying-on of that activity.
- **20.2** Any individual may seek personal licences whether or not they have current employment or business interests associated with the use of the licence.
- **20.3** Provided an applicant has a qualification determined by the-Home Office and does not have certain criminal convictions the Council must grant the licence.
- **20.4** Applicants for personal licences are required to submit their application in accordance with the Licensing Act 2003 (personal licence) Regulations 2005, which requires that they submit two (passport style) photographs, one of which must be endorsed by a solicitor, notary, person of standing in the community or any other professional person, with a statement to verify the likeness to the applicant. A statement of criminal convictions and a basic disclosure certificate (or similar) which does not exceed 30 days since issue must also be submitted along with the original copy of the Level 2 certificate for personal licence holders.
- 20.5 Where an applicant has a relevant conviction the Police may oppose the application. If an objection is lodged by the Police, a hearing of the Council's Licensing (Sub) Committee will be held. The Committee will consider carefully whether the grant of the licence is likely to compromise the crime prevention objective. It will consider the seriousness and relevance of the conviction(s), the period that has elapsed since the offence(s) were committed and any mitigating circumstances.
- 20.6 The Council will normally refuse applications where there are recent "relevant offences" and will only grant the application if it is satisfied that there are exceptional and compelling reasons for doing so. If the Police do not

issue an objection notice and the application otherwise meets the requirements of the Act the Council must grant the licence.

- 20.7 Where a Personal Licence holder is convicted by a court for a relevant offence, the Court will advise the Council accordingly. On receipt of such a notification, the Council will notify the Police and if they consider the continuance of the licence will prejudice crime and disorder objectives, they may issue an objection notice. In these circumstances, a hearing before the Licensing Committee will be held.
- **20.8** In order for the sale of alcohol to take place, the Council would normally expect the premises licence holder to ensure that there are a sufficient number of personal licence holders at the premises when alcohol is being supplied or retailed. If a personal licence holder is not on the premises for any reason, the Council would expect provisions to be made for the immediate contact of the personal licence holder or Designated Premises Supervisor in the event of an emergency.
- **20.9** The Council will require one of the personal licence holders to be a Designated Premises Supervisor. The main purpose being to ensure that there is always one specified individual who can be readily identified at the premises in cases of emergency. Thus, it will be clear who is in charge of the day-to-day running of the business.
- **20.10** Where the Designated Premises Supervisor is not available at the premises for whatever reason, the Council will expect an individual to be nominated as a point of contact who will have details of where the Designated Premises Supervisor can be contacted.
- **20.11** Personal licence holders must notify the licensing authority, as soon as practicably possible of any change of address and/or any relevant or foreign conviction.
- **20.12** When authorising members of staff to sell alcohol on their behalf, whilst not a legal requirement, personal licence holders are advised that it may be considered good practice to issue such authorisation in writing and to keep a record of both the authorisation and any training that has been provided.

**20.13** Following deregulation, the ten-year validity period for a personal licence has now been repealed. Currently, a personal licence is valid indefinitely or until such a time as it is surrendered by the licence holder or suspended / revoked by a Magistrates' Court. Any person who currently holds a personal licence which displays an expiry date are advised to disregard this date. There is no need to return the licence to the licensing authority for the date to be removed.

## 21.0 Policy Consultation

**21.1** In developing this policy the Council has consulted widely to ascertain an appropriate licensing framework for its area. The bodies consulted have included those specified in section 5(3) and in paragraph 29 of Part 4 of Schedule 8 to the Act: -

- the chief officer of police;
- the fire authority;
- representatives of holders of existing licences;
- representatives of existing registered clubs;
- representatives of the local licensing trade;
- · representatives of local businesses;
- · representatives of local residents.

**21.2** A full list of all those who were consulted in the development of this policy are listed in **Appendix G**.

## 22.0 Monitoring and Review of Licensing Policy

**22.1** The Police, Fire Authority and other consultees will be encouraged to report to the Council annually on the operation of the licensing function.

**22.2** The Council's Licensing Manager will report annually to the Licensing Committee. Reports may include: -

- Statistics of the several forms of licences:
- A breakdown of the number of licences determined by committee and under delegated powers;
- A breakdown of the outcome of any appeals;
- A breakdown of licences by reference to their terminal hour;
- An outline of enforcement activity undertaken;
- The outcome of any prosecutions;
- Details of any premises closed temporarily;
- Proposals to amend the licensing policy in the light of experience;
- Proposals to amend licensing practice in the light of experience;
- Any comments of the Licensing Forum.

**22.3** Additional issues may need to be taken into account by the Licensing Committee when dealing with applications and therefore, the following reports will be brought before the Committee from time to time:

- needs of the local tourist economy;
- cultural strategy for the area;
- employment situation in the area and the need for new investment and employment where appropriate;
- planning considerations which might affect licensed premises.

**22.4**The special licensing policy on cumulative impact for Altrincham and Sale will be reviewed at an interval of 3 years.

## 23.0 Temporary Event Notices (TEN's)

- 23.1 Certain temporary events are not required to be licensed but can be notified to the Licensing Authority using the Temporary Event Notice procedure. Nevertheless, depending on the nature and location of such events, these can have serious crime and disorder and noise implications. Organisers of these events are encouraged to submit their notification as soon as reasonably practicable to enable the Police and the Council to work with them to identify and reduce the risk of crime and disorder and noise nuisance.
- **23.2** The Council recommends that at least 28 days' notice be given to hold such events, to allow it to help organisers to plan their events safely. Any longer period than this may mean that organisers do not have all the details available at the time of submitting the notice, and any lesser time means that planning may be rushed and haphazard.
- **23.3** There are two types of TEN; a standard TEN and a late TEN. These are subject to different processes: a standard notice is given no later than ten working days before the event to which it relates; and a late notice is given not before nine and not later than five working days before the event.
- **23.4** The most important aspects of the system of temporary event notices are that no permission is required for these events from the Council. In general, only the Police and Environmental Health may intervene to prevent such an event or modify the arrangements for such an event. The Council will only ever intervene itself if the limits on the number of notices that may be given in various circumstances, as outlined in the Act, would be exceeded.
- 23.5 Many of those who give temporary event notices will not have commercial backgrounds or ready access to legal advice. They will include, for example, those acting on behalf of charities, community and voluntary groups, schools, churches and hospitals all of which may stage public events to raise funds at which licensable activities will take place. The Council will ensure that local guidance about the temporary permitted activities is clear and understandable and will strive to keep the arrangements manageable and user-friendly for these groups.

**23.6** In the event of a relevant representation from the Police and/or Environmental Health to a standard TEN the Council will hold a hearing not less than 24 hours before the event is due to take place. There is no right of hearing if an objection is lodged against a late TEN.

## 24.0 Larger Events

- **24.1** For licensable events where the capacity exceeds 499 a premises licence will need to be applied for. A premises licence can be time limited so that it is only in effect for the duration of the event.
- **24.2** Open air events may range from relatively small local events, like fairs, which may last for four or five days, to major pop festivals lasting one or more days. Despite the temporary duration of such major events, they can attract huge crowds of more than 100,000 people and the risks to public safety and to crime and disorder as well as public nuisance may be considerable. A temporary event likely to attract more than 499 people will require an application for a premises licence and will not be covered by the Temporary Event Notice provisions.
- 24.3 It is recommended that the applicant make an initial approach to the local authority at least 6-9 months prior to the proposed event. This will allow the Council and the Emergency Services sufficient time to assist the organisers to plan their events safely. Many events will give rise to special considerations in respect of public safety and public nuisance. Operating schedules should therefore reflect an awareness of these matters. It is recommended that an application be made at least 3 months prior to the event in accordance with the recommendations of the guidance issued by the Core Cities Group. It is the responsibility of the organisers/promoters to satisfy the Council that they have met the standards outlined in the following relevant documents:
  - The Event Safety Guide A guide to health and safety and welfare at music and similar events ("The Purple Book") available at http://www.thepurpleguide.co.uk
  - o Managing Crowds Safely (HSE 2000) ISBN 0 7176 1834 X
  - The Guide to Safety at Sports Grounds (The Stationery Office, 1997)
     ("The Green Guide") ISBN 0 11 300095 2
  - Outdoor Events Model Application Form Document District Surveyors Association in conjunction with the Core Cities Group. 2002

- **24.4** Applications for large events will be scrutinised by the Safety Advisory Group (SAG) as well as the Licensing Authority. The SAG will consist of officers from Responsible Authorities such as the Police, Pollution Control, Food Safety, Fire Authority, and may include officers from other relevant departments and agencies such as the North West Ambulance Service, Transport for Greater Manchester, Highways (Amey) and Emergency Planning.
- **24.5** The SAG allows officers to question applicants about the operation of their event to ensure it will be a "safe" event and will minimise disruption to traffic management and nuisance. The SAG will not determine licence applications but may recommend conditions be attached to a licence. The Licensing Authority will expect applicants and organisers of large temporary events to produce a satisfactory event management plan for their event and to comply with any recommendations made by the group.
- **24.6** Applicants may notify the SAG of an event or a proposed event that maybe organised in the future by emailing:

EnvironmentalHealth@trafford.gov.uk

- **24.7** For smaller events that do not require a full SAG meeting. The Council encourages the use of Multi-Agency Meetings. Please contact the Licensing Officer who can direct you on which route would be most suitable for your application.
- **24.8** A representative of the Licensing Authority will be present at all SAG, Multi-Agency or Sports Ground Safety Meetings to help promote safe events in the Borough and direct partner agencies on the objectives of the Act, this statement of licensing policy and other published guidance or relevant legislation concerning licensed premises.

#### 25.0 Enforcement

25.1 The Council delivers a wide range of enforcement services aimed at safeguarding the environment and the community and at providing a 'level playing field' on which businesses can fairly trade. The administration and enforcement of the licensing regime is one of these services. The Council has adopted the Government's Enforcement Concordat designed to ensure effective and efficient public protection services. Specifically, the Council is committed to accord with the principles of good enforcement practice by carrying out its regulatory functions in a fair, open and consistent manner and will abide by its own Enforcement Policy.

**25.2** The Enforcement Concordat is based on the principles that businesses should: -

- receive clear explanations from enforcers of what they need to do and by when;
- have opportunities to resolve differences before enforcement action is taken - unless immediate action is needed;
- receive an explanation of their rights of appeal.

**25.3** Trafford Council's Enforcement Policy is freely available from the Council, as is this Policy and details of the Council's corporate complaints' procedures.

**25.4** All decisions and enforcement action taken by the Council will have regard to the relevant provisions of the Act, national guidance, the Enforcement Policy of the Council, and to the principles of the Enforcement Concordat. In developing the enforcement policy the Council had, and will continue to have, regard to the statutory Regulator's code, issued by the Better Regulation Delivery Office under section 22 of the Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006.

**25.5** The Council intends to establish enforcement protocols with Greater Manchester Police on enforcement issues to provide for efficient deployment of local authority staff and police officers who may be engaged in enforcing licensing law and the inspection of licensed premises. This joint partnership

approach is intended to prevent duplication of effort, maximise the potential for controlling crime and disorder at premises and to ensure compliance when relevant conditions are appropriate.

**25.6** Inspections will take place at the discretion of the Council and its partner agencies and resources will be concentrated on areas of need. A light touch inspection regime will be employed for well-managed and maintained premises with a targeted and graduated inspection and enforcement regime for problem and high-risk premises.

**25.7** The Council will investigate complaints where it is alleged that licensable activities have/or are to take place without the relevant licence and will use its discretion to determine whether, in the circumstances, it is in the public interest to take enforcement action. Factors which may be taken into account are:

- The nature of the event eg. certain types of charitable event
- The impact/likely impact of the event eg. complaints of nuisance/disorder
- The safety measures in place to deal with any possible risks

### 26.0 Reviews

**26.1** At any stage, following the grant of a premises licence, a Responsible Authority or any other person, may apply for a licence to be reviewed because of a matter arising at the premises in connection with any of the four Licensing Objectives.

**26.2** A licence will be reviewed where it is alleged that the Licensing Objectives are not being promoted and there is evidence to show this. The Licensing Authority will regard applications for the review of any premises licence particularly seriously where they involve evidence of:

- Use of licensed premises for the sale and distribution of drugs and the laundering of drugs money;
- Use of licensed premises for the sale and distribution of illegal firearms;
- Evasion of copyright in respect of pirated or unlicensed films and music;
- Underage purchase and consumption of alcohol;
- Use of licensed premises for prostitution or the sale of unlawful pornography;
- · Serious risks to children:
- · Use of licensed premises for unlawful gaming and gambling;
- Use of licensed premises as a base for organised criminal activity;
- Use of licensed premises for the organisation of racist, homophobic, sexual abuse, attacks or any discriminatory behaviour;
- · Use of licensed premises for the sale of illicit tobacco, alcohol or goods;
- The use of licensed premises for the sale of stolen goods;
- · Incidents of disorder;
- Instances of public nuisance where warnings have been disregarded;
- Serious risks to public safety which the management is unable or unwilling to correct;
- Frequently operating outside permitted hours or repeatedly breaching conditions (particularly those which have been attached by a licensing panel as a result of previous review hearing).

**26.3** In instances where a review meets the criteria of being particularly serious, the licensing panel will consider the strongest most appropriate action, including revocation in the first instance.

**26.4** At a review hearing the committee can make the following decisions:

- Modify the conditions of the premises licence;
- Exclude a licensable activity from the scope of the licence;
- · Remove the designated premises supervisor;
- · Suspend the licence for up to three months;
- Revoke the licence:
- · Take no action at all.

**26.5** The Council must reject any request for a review if the reason does not relate to one or more of the four licensing objectives. The Council will expect anybody requesting a review to produce evidence to support allegations that one or more of these objectives are not being met.

**26.6** Requests for reviews will also be rejected if the grounds are, in the opinion of the Head of Regulatory Services, frivolous, vexatious or repetitive. Repetitive grounds are those which are identical to those considered at a previous hearing and where no further relevant evidence is brought to substantiate the request.

**26.7** Any review of a licence will take place before the Licensing committee or one of its sub-committees.

## 27.0 Appeals

**27.1** Where an applicant is aggrieved by any decision or condition, there is a right of appeal. This appeal must be lodged within a period of 21 days from the day on which the applicant was notified in writing to confirm the decision. The 21 days is calculated from the date of the letter. The appeal application must be made to the Justices' Chief Executive of the Magistrates' Court.

**27.2** In respect of personal licences, appeals must be made to the Magistrates' Court in the area where the licence was issued/refused. Appeals in relation to all other licences must be made to the Magistrates' Court where the premises or event is situated.

On determining an appeal, the court may:

- dismiss the appeal
- substitute for the decision appealed against any other decision which could have been made by the Council
- remit the case to the Council to dispose of it in accordance with the direction of the court.
- 27.4 In anticipation of such appeals, the Council will give comprehensive reasons for its decisions. On making findings of fact in its reasons, the Council will also ensure that they address the standard of proof and the burden of proof that they have adopted. The Council will also address the extent to which the decision has been made with regard to its statement of licensing policy and the Guidance issued by the Secretary of State under section 177.
- **27.5** As soon as the determination of the Magistrates' Courts has been promulgated, the Council will not delay its implementation and necessary action will be taken forthwith unless ordered by a higher court to suspend such action (for example, as a result of an on-going judicial review). The Act provides for no further appeal against the determination of the Magistrates' Courts.

## 28.0 Nudity and Adult Entertainment

- **28.1** Whilst applicants are at liberty to make an application in respect of any type of licensable activity, including any form of regulated entertainment, there are certain types of entertainment where greater consideration and stronger controls may be appropriate. Such activities would certainly include any form of nudity and/or adult entertainment.
- 28.2 There is provision within the application form under section 'N' to highlight 'any adult entertainment or services or other entertainment ancillary to the use of the premises that may give rise to concern in respect of children'. If confirmed in this box that no such entertainment is to take place, this will be entered as a condition on any licence issued. If no answer is given in box 'N' the situation is not as clear, this Authority has considered this matter and intends to treat such applications as below.
- 28.3 It is essential that such activity although not automatically precluded should, if offered be adequately controlled. Therefore, for the avoidance of doubt and to avoid any circumventing of the law in this respect, when no answer is given in box 'N' in respect of applications that include regulated entertainment of any description, the sale of alcohol for consumption on the premises and/or late night refreshment, this will be treated as if there is to be no such activity and there will be a condition placed on the licence that no such activity or entertainment will be permitted.
- **28.4** If a 'yes' answer is given in box 'N' the applicant will be expected to outline specifically the nature of the regulated entertainment and to address all potential issues in the operating schedule as well as proposing measures relevant to each of the licensing objectives in order to control the effects of the activity on all objectives but with particular regard to the protection of children from harm. Any licence issued will permit only those activities that have been specifically addressed in the application.
- **28.5** This authority has adopted the provisions of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 (LG (MP) 82) for the licensing of sex establishments including sexual entertainment venues (SEV's). A consequence of this is that 'regulated entertainment' under the Licensing Act

2003 will no longer include sexual entertainment as defined under the terms of (LG (MP) 82) and if such activities are to be offered a separate SEV licence will be required.

#### 29.0 Authorisation

**29.1** The Designated Premises Supervisor in a premises that is concerned with the sale of alcohol whether in respect of 'off' sales or 'on' sales carries direct responsibility for all sales at any time within the licensed premises.

29.2 There is currently no requirement (unless a specific condition on the premises licence, following a licensing sub-committee hearing or voluntary proposal in the operating schedule of the application) that the Designated Premises Supervisor or any other Personal Licence holder should be present at all or at any particular times. In the event of the absence of such authorised person(s) regardless of the length of absence, it is a requirement that authorisation must be passed down to those who sell alcohol at or from the premises. For the purpose of proof that such authorisation has been given and equally in order to show due diligence should such cause arise, it is strongly recommended that such authorisation should not be verbal, but given in writing to each person so authorised and that if required this should be available to be produced to any authorised officer upon request.

**29.3** In respect of a private members' club, where alcohol is supplied by or to the order of a member, there is no Designated Premises Supervisor or Personal Licence holder, however, any supply of alcohol by non-members or minors should be specifically authorised and again it is strongly recommended that such authorisation should be given in writing where appropriate.

#### 30.0 Non-Standard Hours

- **30.1** Since the implementation of the Licensing Act there have been many applications where it appears that the applicant requests a specified number of events where no dates or times are given e.g. 'on 12 occasions per year' or 'on one weekend per month' etc. Such events are not measurable and provide difficulty in assessing their impact upon the licensing objectives and hence in ascertaining what if any conditions are relevant.
- **30.2** For the above reason applicants are advised that additional days should be clearly identified with dates and/or times which will allow proper consideration of their impact on the licensing objectives and permit their inclusion specifically on any licence issued.
- **30.3** Although every application will be treated on its own merits, it will not be normal practice to accept applications with such ambiguous specifications. There exists a system of Temporary Event Notices to allow for the conduct of any unusual, 'one off' or unforeseen events.

## 31.0 Smoking - Health Act 2006

- **31.1** From 01 July 2007 it is illegal to smoke in virtually all enclosed public places and workplaces in England. The ban includes offices, factories, shops, pubs, clubs, bars, restaurants and public transport.
- **31.2** Businesses are required as from 1 July 2007 to display signs at entrances to premises. The signs are available from the department of health at www.smokefreeengland.co.uk/stayinformed or by calling 0800 169 1697.
- 31.3 A likely impact of the public places smoking restriction under the Health Act 2006 is that customers wishing to smoke may be attracted to premises that have 'beer gardens' or designated outside areas. There is likely therefore, to be more drinking outside of licensed premises. Although smoking is not a licensable activity, it may clearly at times be associated with a licensable activity i.e. sale of alcohol and may be viewed as an area which requires consideration of possible control measures in the interests of avoidance of public nuisance.
- **31.4** There may be occasions where licensees are required (following representation or application for review) to control areas/hours for such activity and/or have conditions imposed upon their licence if this is deemed proportionate and appropriate in meeting one or more of the licensing objectives and in particular that of the prevention of public nuisance.

## 32.0 Licensing Hours

- **32.1** The 2003 Act gives the licensing authority power to make decisions about the hours during which premises can conduct licensable activities as part of the implementation of its licensing policy statement.
- **32.2** The Council recognises the role that greater flexibility over licensing hours has played in the development of thriving and safe evening and night-time local economies, which are important for investment and employment locally and attractive to domestic and international tourists, providing customers with greater choice and flexibility.
- 32.3 Licensing Authorities are best placed to make decisions about appropriate opening hours in their areas based on their local knowledge and in consultation with responsible authorities. This licensing authority will not impose predetermined licensed opening hours. However, the Council is aware of problems within the borough which are attributed to the availability of alcohol both early in the morning and late at night. Applicants wishing to provide alcohol before 10am and after 10pm, regardless of where the premises is located in the borough, are expected to detail in their operating schedule how the early or late operation of their business will promote the licensing objectives. The licensing authority will give individual consideration to the merits of each application.
- **32.4** This policy stresses the importance of compliance with measures detailed as conditions of a Premises Licence when the licence authorises hours before 10AM and after 10PM. Should a premises have a pattern of non-compliance with these measures or a pattern of other incidents then, on review, members of the sub-committee are encouraged to consider restricting the Premises Licence to the hours of 10:00hrs-22:00hrs.
- **32.5** We acknowledge the that the guidance issued under Section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 states that Shops, stores and Supermarkets should normally be free to provide sales of alcohol for consumption off the premises at any times when the retail outlet is open for shopping unless there are good reasons, based on the licensing objectives, for restricting those hours.

- **32.6** This Licensing authority would define a "good reason" as an evidentially based representation from a responsible authority or other person which details problems in a particular area which are contrary to the promotion of the licensing objectives. In addition, evidence of street drinking, alcohol related antisocial behaviour, public nuisance and alcohol abuse will also be viewed as a "good reason" to depart from the guidance issued under section 182.
- **32.7** The Council is aware of the increased risk of antisocial behaviour and public nuisance in areas close to public transport links (such as Metrolink stations, train stations, bus interchange or bus stops). Applicants will be expected to address this risk in their operating schedule, particularly if the proposal is to sell alcohol for consumption off the premises before 10am or after 10pm, or if the application is to licence a takeaway for late night refreshment.
- **32.8** Restrictions could be appropriate on the times when certain licensable activities take place even though the premises may be open to the public at such times. For example, the playing of recorded music after a certain time might be prohibited, even though other licensable activities are permitted to continue.
- **32.9** Restrictions might be appropriate on the parts of premises that might be used for certain licensable activities at certain times. For example, while the provision of regulated entertainment might be permitted while the premises are open to the public or members and their guests, regulated entertainment might not be permitted in garden areas of the premises after a certain time. Opening hours beyond midnight may be more likely to attract relevant representations and if the Council's discretion is engaged it is possible conditions relating to opening hours may be imposed.
- **32.10** When considering applications for later closing times in respect of premises licences, where relevant representations have been made, the Council will take the following into consideration in accordance with Government Guidance:
  - Whether the premises is located in a predominantly commercial area
  - The nature of the proposed activities to be provided at the premises

- Whether there are any arrangements to ensure adequate availability of taxis and private hire vehicles and appropriate places for picking up and setting down passengers
- Whether there is an appropriate amount of car parking, readily accessible to the premises, and in places where the parking and use of vehicles will not cause demonstrable adverse impact to local residents
- Whether the operating schedule indicates that the applicant is taking appropriate steps to comply with the licensing objective of preventing public nuisance
- Whether the licensed activity, particularly if located in areas of the highest levels of recorded crime, may result in a reduction or increase in crime and anti-social behaviour
- Whether the licensed activities are likely to cause adverse impact especially on local residents, and whether, if there is a potential to cause adverse impact, appropriate measures will be put in place to prevent it
- Whether there will be any increase in the cumulative adverse impact from these or similar activities, on an adjacent residential area
- Any representations from a responsible authority or interested party that identify the premises as a focus for disorder and disturbance.

32.11 As far as premises in residential areas are concerned, these may be subject to stricter controls with regard to opening hours to ensure that disturbance to local residents is minimised. The Council considers that it is self-evident that the risk of disturbance to local residents is greater when licensable activities continue late at night and into the early hours of the morning. For example, the risk of residents' sleep being disturbed by patrons leaving licensed premises is obviously greater at 2 a.m. than at 11 p.m. It is, therefore, the policy of the Council to strike a fair balance between the benefits to a community of a licensed venue and the risk of disturbance to local residents. In predominantly residential areas, therefore, it may not be appropriate to allow closing times later than midnight. It may be acceptable to open later on a limited number of occasions, for example up to 15 times a year. This would allow licensees to extend opening beyond midnight for special occasions such as New Year. However, every application will be determined on its merits, and applicants wishing to operate beyond midnight will need to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Council, in their operating schedule, that there will be no significant disturbance to members of the

public living, working or otherwise engaged in normal activity around the premises concerned. This policy is aimed at the fulfilment of the licensing objective of "prevention of public nuisance".

- **32.12** One of the greatest flashpoints occurs at closing times. In order to combat these flashpoints, it is the policy of the Council to encourage 'wind down times'. In this regard it is suggested that licensees should consider remaining open for at least 30 minutes after the last service of alcohol. During this time the licensee may wish to offer for sale non-alcoholic beverages. The reason for this is to encourage patrons to leave the venue gradually and encourage licensed premises away from the 'chucking out' culture. Clearly, any period of time an establishment wishes to remain open after the end of licensed hours is acceptable provided no alcohol is sold. This policy is aimed at the fulfilment of the licensing objective of "prevention of crime and disorder".
- 32.13 In respect of premises predominantly supplying take-away food, between the hours of 11.00pm and 5.00am the Council would need to be satisfied that the supply of alcohol will not lead to an increase in crime and disorder or public nuisance in the vicinity of the premises. A Public Spaces Protection Order applies to the whole borough of Trafford; consideration should be given to measures which promote this crime reduction initiative. For example, alcohol to only being made available for sale alongside a food delivery or pre-ordered collection, and not readily available for consumption immediately outside or on a nearby street, bus stop or park bench.
- **32.14** All premises applying for licensing beyond 12.00pm must demonstrate that its customers will be capable of leaving the area without causing a disruption to local residents or impact upon crime and disorder. For example, where appropriate and relevant an assessment of the availability of late night transport, and the likely flow of pedestrian traffic away from the premises, could be included in the operating schedule.

## 33.0 Administration, Exercise and Delegation of Functions

- **33.1** One of the major principles underlying the Act is that the licensing functions contained within the Act should be delegated to an appropriate level so as to ensure speedy, efficient and cost-effective service delivery.
- **33.2** The Council is committed to the principle of delegating its powers to ensure that these objectives are met and has arranged for its licensing functions to be discharged in accordance with the Guidance issued by the Secretary of State.
- 33.3 The Act itself creates a presumption that applications will be granted unless a representation is raised. Where a function is delegated to an officer, that officer will be responsible for liaising between the applicant, interested parties and the responsible authorities to ensure that any licence granted is subject to the appropriate conditions. Where objections are made then the licensing officer will once again liaise with the applicant, interested parties and the responsible authorities to see if a "settlement" is possible to overcome the objections without the need for the matter to go before the Committee or Sub Committee. Only where objections are raised which cannot be settled will matters be referred through to either the Sub Committee or the Full Committee for determination.
- **33.4** Whilst contested licensing applications are quasi-judicial in nature the (Sub) Committee will try to keep the proceedings as informal as possible. However, some degree of formality is needed to ensure that all parties receive a fair hearing and are able to express their views openly and fairly.
- **33.5** The (Sub) Committee will determine each case before it on its individual merits whilst taking into consideration the terms of this Policy document.
- **33.6** In determining the application the Licensing Committee or Sub-Committee, will consider:

- (a) The case and evidence presented by all parties;
- (b) The promotion of the four licensing objectives;
- (c) Guidance issued by central Government;
- (d) The Council's own Statement of Licensing Policy.
- 33.7 Where the (Sub) Committee determines that it is appropriate to attach conditions to a licence/certificate it will ensure that those conditions are directed towards preventing or minimising the impact of the activities taking place at the premises concerned on members of the public living, working or engaged in normal activity in the area concerned. Such conditions will be proportionate to the activity to be controlled and will only be imposed in the interests of the licensing objectives.
- **33.11** All licence applications will be determined in accordance with the table in **Appendix D**.

### 34.0 The Role of Ward Councillors

- **34.1** Ward councillors play an important role in the local community. They can make representations in writing and speak at the hearing on behalf of an interested party such as a local resident or local business if specifically requested to do so. They can also make representations in their own right. For example, ward councillors may apply for a review of a licence if problems at a specific premises which justify intervention are brought to their attention.
- **34.2** Ward councillors are informed of all new applications and any application to vary a licence in their ward. Individual councillors may choose to consult with residents locally in addition to the statutory publication carried out by the applicant.
- **34.3** Local residents and businesses may wish to contact their local ward councillors in respect of a licence application. Details on how to contact ward councillors may be obtained from the Council's website or by contacting the Licensing Officer.
- **34.4** If a local resident or business makes a representation about an application it is often helpful to send a copy to the local Councillors. This helps them to gain an understanding of local feelings.
- **34.5** Ward councillors may attend hearings of licensing Sub Committees considering applications and speak on behalf of local residents and businesses, but only if:
  - · They have made a personal representation; or
  - They have made a representation on behalf of local residents or businesses as 'community advocates'; or
  - They have been nominated by (an objector) who cannot attend the hearing or prefers to be represented by them at the hearing.

## 35.0 Application Consultation

- **35.1** The aim of consultation is to provide the opportunity for other persons to be involved in the licensing process. The consultation procedure required for each type of application is prescribed within the Act and Regulations made thereunder.
- **35.2** Applicants are required to advertise an application for the grant or variation of a Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate and for an application for a Provisional Statement. For such applications the consultation required is: -
  - Copies of the application must be received by the Responsible Authorities on the same day as the original application is received by the Local Authority.
  - A blue coloured notice(s) must be displayed at the premises for the full 28-day consultation period. It must be clearly visible 24hrs a day and legible to passers-by. The notice must give a brief outline of the application including the regulated activities and the hours applied for.
  - An advertisement must be placed in a local borough wide publication, within 10 working days of the application being received by the Licensing Authority. It is the responsibility of the applicant to forward evidence of the newspaper notice, its wording and its date of publication to the Licensing Authority.
  - For 'minor' variations, there is no requirement for the applicant to send copies to the responsible authorities or for a newspaper notice and the premises notice need only be made on white paper and be displayed for 10 days, The Licensing Authority will advise the appropriate responsible authorities of the application.
- **35.3** Applications for review of Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate will be advertised by the Licensing Authority in accordance with Regulations. For ordinary review applications this will take the form of notices being displayed near to the premises for 28 days, and for 'summary' reviews notices being displayed for 7 working days.

**35.4** The Licensing Authority will make copies of applications available for inspection by the public.

#### 36.0 Provisional Statements

- **36.1** Applicants may need to apply for a Provisional Statement where premises are being constructed, extended or substantially changed structurally for the purpose of licensable activities.
- **36.2** This Licensing Authority's Policy in relation to Provisional Statements is identical to that for Premises Licences. Before premises with a Provisional Statement may be used for licensable activities an application must be made and granted for a Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate.
- **36.3** If representations are received in respect of an application for a Provisional Statement, conditions may be imposed on the Provisional Statement in the same manner as if it was a Premises Licence or the application may be refused by the Licensing Authority.

#### 37.0 Film Classification

- **37.1** The admission of children to any film exhibition shall be restricted in accordance with the classification given to that film by the British Board of Film Classification (or the Licensing Authority). No person under the age of 18 shall be admitted to any film that has not been classified by the British Board of Film Classification (or the Licensing Authority).
- 37.2 The Licensing Authority agrees with the recommendation of the Secretary of State that Licensing Authorities should not ordinarily duplicate the role of the British Board of Film Classification by choosing to re-classify films themselves. The classification recommended by the British Board of Film Classification for any film will be applied by this Licensing Authority unless there are exceptional reasons for this Licensing Authority to adopt the role of film classifier and classify or re-classify any particular film. The decision as to whether to classify or re-classify any particular film will be at the absolute discretion of this Licensing Authority.
- **37.3** If the Licensing Authority is concerned about the classification given by the British Board of Film Classification to a particular film, it may give notice to the holders of premises licences that the film may not be exhibited until it has been viewed and classified by the Licensing Authority. In such circumstances the Licensing Authority will view and classify the film as a matter of urgency.
- 37.4 Licence conditions may specify that immediately before each exhibition at the premises of a film (other than a current newsreel) passed by the British Board of Film Classification, there shall be exhibited on screen for at least five seconds in such a manner as to be easily read by all persons in the auditorium a reproduction of a certificate of the Board, or, as regards a trailer advertising a film, of the statement approved by the Board indicating the category of the film. Conditions may also require notices to be displayed both inside and outside the premises so that persons entering can readily read them and be aware of a category attached to any film or trailer.
- 37.5 Where any video works are shown on premises with a licence (e.g. in pubs) they should be suitable for the age group of those persons present,

having regard to the official age classification of the work given by the British Board of Film Classification.

## **38.0** Suspension of Licences and Certificates for Non-Payment of Annual Fees

- **38.1** As a result of powers introduced under the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, the Licensing Authority must suspend Premises Licences and Club Premises Certificates if the holder of the relevant authorisation fails to pay their annual fee.
- 38.2 However, this does not apply immediately if the payment was not made before or at the time of the due date because of an administrative error, or because the holder disputed liability for the fee. In either of these cases, there is a grace period of 21 days. This period will be used by the Licensing Authority to contact the licence or certificate holder in attempt to resolve the dispute or error. If the dispute or error is not resolved during this 21-day period, the licence or certificate will be suspended.
- **38.3** When suspending a licence or certificate a notice of suspension will be given in writing to the licence or certificate holder. The police and any other relevant responsible authorities will also be notified of the suspension at the same time.
- **38.4** A premises licence or certificate that has been suspended does not have effect. However, it can for example be subject to a hearing or, in the case of a premises licence, an application for transfer. The licence will nevertheless only be reinstated when the outstanding fee has been paid. Formally, the debt is owed by the holder who held the licence at the time it was suspended. However, it may be more likely in practice that the new holder will actually make the payment.
- **38.5** Once payment has been received a written acknowledgement will be given to the licence/certificate holder and the suspension will be lifted. The police and any other relevant responsible authorities will be notified that the suspension has been lifted at the same time.

### 39.0 Immigration Act 2016

**39.1** Section 36 of and Schedule 4 to the Immigration Act 2016 made a number of amendments to the Licensing Act 2003 to introduce immigration safeguards in respect of licensing applications made in England and Wales on or after 6 April 2017. The intention of these changes is to prevent illegal working in premises licensed for the sale of alcohol or late-night refreshment.

**39.2** The statutory prevention of crime and disorder licensing objective in the Licensing Act 2003 includes the prevention of immigration crime and the prevention of illegal working in licensed premises. The Council will work with the Home Office (Immigration Enforcement) as well as the police, in respect of these matters.

**39.3** Section 36 of and Schedule 4 to the Immigration Act 2016 (the 2016 Act) amended the 2003 Act to provide that in England and Wales:

- Premises licences to sell alcohol or provide late night refreshment and personal licences cannot be issued to an individual who does not have permission to be in the UK, or is not entitled to undertake work relating to the carrying on of a licensable activity;
- Licences issued to those with limited permission to be in the UK will lapse when their permission to be in the UK and work in a licensable activity comes to an end;
- Immigration offences, including civil penalties, are 'relevant offences' as defined by the 2003 Act;
- The Home Secretary (in practice Home Office (Immigration Enforcement)) was added to the list of responsible authorities in the licensing regime, which requires Home Office (Immigration Enforcement) to receive premises licence applications (except regulated entertainment only licences) and applications to transfer premises licences, and in some limited circumstances personal licence applications, and permits Home Office (Immigration Enforcement) to make appropriate representations and objections to the grant of a licence; and
- Immigration officers are permitted to enter premises which they have reason to believe are being used to sell alcohol or provide late night refreshment, to investigate whether immigration offences are being committed in connection with the licensable activity.

- **39.4** The Licensing Authority will have regard to any guidance issued by the Home Office in relation to the immigration related provisions now contained in the Licensing Act 2003.
- **39.5** The Licensing Authority will also work in partnership with the Home Office (Immigration Enforcement) and Greater Manchester Police with a view to preventing illegal working in premises licensed for the sale of alcohol and/or late-night refreshment.

#### 40.0 Other References & Guidance

**40.1** Applicants are advised, prior to making an application, to have regard to the following documents (as appropriate to their premises and the activities that will be provided): -

- The current guidance provided on the Home Office, including the amended Guidance issued under Section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003
- Technical Standards for Places of Entertainment available from the Licensing Team.
- · Home Office: Safer Clubbing Guide
- LACORS/TSI Code of Practice on Test Purchasing
- Guidance issued by the Security Industry Authority in connection with door supervisors etc.
- The Event Safety Guide: A Guide to Health, Safety and Welfare at Music and Similar Events' - HSG195
- Managing Crowds Safely HSE 2000ISBN 07176-1834-X
- '5 Steps to Risk Assessment: Case Studies' HSE 1998 ISBN 0-7176-15804
- 'The Guide to Safety at Sports Grounds' SGSA ("The Green Guide")
- 'Safety Guidance for Street Arts, Carnivals, Processions and Large-Scale Outdoor Performances' Independent Street Arts Network (ISAN) available from:

#### http://www.streetartsnetwork.org.uk/pages/publications.htm

- The Guidance issued by the Department of Communities and Local Government under the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005.
   Website: www.communities.gov.uk
- The Purple Guide to Health, Safety and Welfare at Music and Other Events ("The Purple Guide") <a href="https://www.thepurpleguide.co.uk/">https://www.thepurpleguide.co.uk/</a>
- Trafford Strategic Safeguarding Partnership: Safeguarding and Safety Handbook, for Licensed Premises and Licensed Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers.

### 41.0 Pre-Application Consultation Service

- **41.1** We offer a pre-application consultation service to support your licensing application made under the Licensing Act 2003. The aim is to help you to anticipate and fix any problems which may arise during the application process.
- 41.2 However, our advice cannot pre-judge the outcome of the licensing application, especially if representations are received and a hearing is scheduled to take place before a Licensing Sub-Committee.

  The pre-application service will highlight common pitfalls and assist business owners through the licensing consultation process, in turn promoting a successful and thriving borough, creating pride in our local area; which forms part of the seven corporate priorities for Trafford Council.
- **41.3** Our pre-application consultation service offers:
  - Advice and assistance with completing application forms;
  - Advice on appropriate conditions taking into account the type and style
    of the operation intended at the premises, its location and in
    consultation with the Council's Senior Licensing Officer;
  - Advice on drawing up plans to accompany the application in accordance with the relevant regulations;
  - Advice on nominating an appropriate Designated Premises Supervisor;
  - Assistance with completing the statutory notices and advertisements
  - On-site visits are available to ensure plans are compliant with regulations and the appropriate statutory notices are correctly on display;
  - Advice on matters you may need to consider assessing possible noise transmission to neighbouring properties, dependent on the type of operation proposed for the premises;
  - Advice on measures to promote the licensing objective of prevention of crime and disorder:
  - Advice on age verification measures and protecting children from harm on licensed premises.

**41.4** Our current charges for this service are based on the application type. These fees may be subject to change as part of the Council's annual fees and charges review.

Licensing **Consultation Service** Price **Application** Up to 3 hours of officer time. For advice on the licensing process, guidance on plans, public notices and newspaper advertisements, licence £157.50 Small conditions, completion of operating schedule and (includes VAT) advice on the Live Music Act deregulation. Includes a face-to-face meeting at Trafford Town Hall but does not include any site visits. For advice where site visit is essential. Up to 6 hours of officer time. Includes meeting and site visit by the Senior Licensing Officer. For advice on £394.50 Medium the licensing process, guidance on plans, public (includes VAT) notices and newspaper advertisements, licence conditions, completion of operating schedule and advice on the Live Music Act deregulation. For applications which need considerable officer time of up to 15 hours. Includes multiple site visits £1342.50 and liaison with the Senior Licensing Officer, Large Environmental Health and Trading Standards, for (includes VAT) events which would generally need to also go through the Safety Advisory Group process.

**41.5** The pre-application consultation service is tailored business advice provided other than under an existing Primary Authority Partnership. The fee for additional hours required for medium and large applications standard is at the rate of £79 per additional hour, which has been calculated and agreed across the Association of Greater Manchester Authorities (AGMA).

### Disclaimer

**41.6** With regard to any pre-application consultation, the written confirmation will state that pre-application consultation advice will not give applicants any exemptions from the licensing process. Responsible Authorities, including the Licensing Authority, Public Protection, Health & Safety, Trading Standards,

may still make a representation against the application and the case may still need to be heard at Licensing Sub-Committee for a decision to be made.

- **41.7** The advice given will not include views from other responsible authorities such as the Police, Fire Authority, etc. Determining any application that is subject to representations will be the function of the Licensing Sub-Committee who will consider the application and the representations on its own merits and determine the application accordingly on the basis of whether it promotes the licensing objectives.
- **41.8** The impartiality of the licensing officer will be maintained throughout the consultation process, when processing any subsequent application and where an application goes before the licensing sub-committee. Where possible, a different licensing officer will provide the pre-application advice to that of the officer who processes the subsequent application. Any applications where representations are made will be determined by the licensing sub-committee. The licensing officer's role at the sub-committee is limited to providing advice on policy and national guidance.
- **41.9** The pre-application consultation service is provided by experienced officers of the Licensing Authority. It is not provided by solicitor and therefore does not constitute legal advice.

## Make a request for pre-application advice

- **41.10** Once we receive your request, we will contact you to take payment over the phone by debit or credit card and arrange a date and time for the pre-application meeting to be scheduled within five working days.
- **41.11** Email a request for advice to <a href="mailto:licensing@trafford.gov.uk">licensing@trafford.gov.uk</a> please provide your contact information and a brief overview of the type of premises that needs to be licensed such as off licence, restaurant, bar, club, public house, indoor arena, sports stadium, outdoor music festival.

#### 42.0 Contact Details

**42.1** Further details about the licensing and application process, including application forms, can be obtained from: -

Licensing Team
Trafford Council
Trafford Town Hall
Talbot Road
Stretford
M32 0TH

Telephone: 0161 912 4047

Email: <u>licensing@trafford.gov.uk</u>

Website: www.trafford.gov.uk

**42.2** The Responsible Authorities detailed in this policy will also be willing to give advice and guidance to applicants. Their contact details are listed in **Appendix E**.

## 43.0 Late Night Refreshment – Local Powers to Deregulate

- **43.1** Section 71 of the Deregulation Act 2015 inserted paragraph 2A into Schedule 2 of the Licensing Act 2003 in relation to the provision of late-night refreshment.
- **43.2** This amendment created a discretionary power to licensing authorities to exempt premises in certain circumstances, from the requirement to have a licence to provide late night refreshment.
- **43.3** The powers allow a relevant licensing authority to exempt the supply of late night refreshment if it takes place:
- on or from premises which are wholly situated in a designated area;
- on or from premises which are of a designated description; or
- during a designated period (beginning no earlier than 23.00 and ending no later than 05.00.
- **43.4** The licensing authority does **not** currently consider it appropriate to exercise the discretionary powers within paragraph 2A of Schedule 2 to the Licensing Act 2003.
- **43.5** If the licensing authority was going to consider exercising the powers in the future, it would only do so having careful considered the risks to the promotion of the licensing objectives and the impact on the locality.

### 44.0 Outside Space

**44.1** Applicants will want to consider whether they might want to use a garden or other outdoor space as a location from which alcohol will be consumed. The sale of alcohol is to be treated as taking place where the alcohol is appropriated to the contract. In scenarios where drink orders are taken by a member of staff in the garden or outdoor space and the member of staff then collects the drinks from the licensed premises and returns to deliver them to the customer this would be treated as an off-sale and any conditions that relate to off-sales would apply.

**44.2** In such cases it will not be necessary to include the garden or other outdoor space on the plan as part of the area covered by the premises licence. However, it will be necessary for the applicant to include the garden or other outdoor space on the plan as part of the area covered by the premises licence if the intention is to provide a service whereby drinks are available for sale and consumption directly from that area (i.e. the provision of on-sales). This would apply in the case of an outdoor bar or a service whereby a member of staff who is in the garden or outdoor space carries with them drinks that are available for sale (without the need for the staff member to return to the licensed premises to collect them).

**44.3** If the beer garden or other outdoor area is to be used for the consumption of off-sales only, there is no requirement to show it on the plan of the premises, but the prescribed application form requires the applicant to provide a description of where the place is and its proximity to the premises.

## Tables and chairs on the public highway

**44.4** Licensed premises that wish to use a portion of a public street, road or place for the for the placing of tables, chairs or other temporary furniture outside a restaurant or cafe for patrons to use may only do so under permission of a Street Cafe licence issued by the Council as Highway Authority. Applicants should be aware that approval is not automatic and no tables or chairs should be placed on the highway until formal approval has been obtained. Street Cafe licences are subject to their own specific restrictions, including limitations on the hours during which they may be used and the number of tables and chairs that may be provided.

- **44.5** Applicants are expected to have specific regard to the impact upon the Licensing Objectives that the operation of any areas on the public highway that are licensed for tables and chairs might have.
- **44.6** Applicants should note that the grant of a premises licence to include part of the highway does not in itself grant permission to use that part of the highway and similarly a licence from the highway authority does not grant permission to undertake any other licensable activity.

## Appendix A: Current Mandatory Conditions

Mandatory Condition	Applicable to
No supply of alcohol may be made under the premises licence —  (a) at a time where there is no designated premises supervisor in respect of the premises licence, or  (b) at a time when the designated premises supervisor does not hold a personal licence or his personal licence is suspended.  Every supply of alcohol under the premises licence must be made or authorised by a person who holds a personal licence	Any premises licence or which authorises the sale of alcohol.
(1) The responsible person must ensure that staff on relevant premises do not carry out, arrange or participate in any irresponsible promotions in relation to the premises.  (2) In this paragraph, an irresponsible promotion means any one or more of the following activities, or substantially similar activities, carried on for the purpose of encouraging the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises—  (a) games or other activities which require or encourage, or are designed to require or encourage, individuals to— (i) drink a quantity of alcohol within a time limit (other than to drink alcohol sold or supplied on the premises before the cessation of the period in which the responsible person is authorised to sell or supply alcohol), or  (ii) drink as much alcohol as possible (whether within a time limit or otherwise);  (b) provision of unlimited or unspecified quantities of alcohol free or for a fixed or discounted fee to the public or to a group defined by a particular characteristic in a manner which carries a significant risk of undermining a licensing objective;	Any premises licence or club premises certificate which authorises the sale of alcohol for consumption on the premises.

manner:

- (c) provision of free or discounted alcohol or any other thing as a prize to encourage or reward the purchase and consumption of alcohol over a period of 24 hours or less in a manner which carries a significant risk of undermining a licensing objective;

  (d) selling or supplying alcohol in association with promotional posters or flyers on, or in the vicinity of, the premises which can reasonably be considered to condone, encourage or glamorise anti-social behaviour or to refer to the effects of drunkenness in any favourable
- (e) dispensing alcohol directly by one person into the mouth of another (other than where that other person is unable to drink without assistance by reason of disability). Any premises licence or club premises certificate which authorises the sale of alcohol The responsible person shall ensure that free potable water is provided on request to customers where it is for consumption on the reasonably available. premises. (i) The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must ensure that an age verification policy is adopted in respect of the premises in relation to the sale or supply of alcohol. (ii) The designated premises supervisor in relation to the premises licence must ensure that the supply of alcohol at Any premises licence or club the premises is carried on in accordance with the age premises certificate which verification policy. authorises the sale of alcohol. (iii) The policy must require individuals who appear to the responsible person to be under 18 years of age (or such older age as may be specified in the policy) to produce on request, before being served alcohol, identification bearing their photograph, date of birth and either— (a) a holographic mark, or (b) an ultraviolet feature. The responsible person must ensure that— Any premises licence or club premises certificate which (a) where any of the following alcoholic drinks is sold or authorises the sale of alcohol supplied for consumption on the premises (other than for consumption on the alcoholic drinks sold or supplied having been made up in premises.

advance ready for sale or supply in a securely closed container) it is available to customers in the following measures— (i) beer or cider: 1/2 pint; (ii) gin, rum, vodka or whisky: 25 ml or 35 ml; and (iii) still wine in a glass: 125 ml; (b) these measures are displayed in a menu, price list or other printed material which is available to customers on the premises; and (c) where a customer does not in relation to a sale of alcohol specify the quantity of alcohol to be sold, the customer is made aware that these measures are available. (1) A relevant person shall ensure that no alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption on or off the premises for a price which is less than the permitted price. (2). For the purposes of the condition set out in paragraph Any premises licence or club

premises certificate which

authorises the sale of alcohol.

#### Duties Act 1979:

Alcoholic Liquor

(b) "permitted price" is the price found by applying the formula— $P = D + (D \times V)$ 

(a) "duty" is to be construed in accordance with the

#### where—

- (i) P is the permitted price,
- (ii) D is the amount of duty chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the duty were charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol, and
- (iii) V is the rate of value added tax chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the value added tax were charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol;
- (c) "relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in force a premises licence—
- (i) the holder of the premises licence,
- (ii) the designated premises supervisor (if any) in respect of such a licence, or

premises.

(iii) the personal licence holder who makes or authorises a supply of alcohol under such a licence;	
(d) "relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in force a club premises certificate, any member or officer of the club present on the premises in a capacity which enables the member or officer to prevent	
the supply in question; and	
(e) "value added tax" means value added tax charged in accordance with the Value Added Tax Act 1994.	
(3) Where the permitted price given by Paragraph (b) of paragraph 2 would (apart from this paragraph) not be a whole number of pennies, the price given by that sub-paragraph shall be taken to be the price actually given by that sub-paragraph rounded up to the nearest penny.	
(4) (i) Sub-paragraph (2) applies where the permitted price given by Paragraph (b) of paragraph 2 on a day ("the first day") would be different from the permitted price on the next day ("the second day") as a result of a change to the rate of duty or value added tax.	
(ii) The permitted price which would apply on the first day applies to sales or supplies of alcohol which take place before the expiry of the period of 14 days beginning on the second day.	
(1) The supply of alcohol for consumption off the premises must be made at a time when the premises are open for the purposes of supplying alcohol, in accordance with the club premises certificate, to members of the club for consumption on the	Club premises certificates which authorise sale of alcohol for consumption

(2) Any alcohol supplied for consumption off the premises must be in a sealed container.	
(3) Any supply of alcohol for consumption off the premises must be made to a member of the club in person.	off the premises.
Exhibition of Films	Any premises licence or club premises certificate which authorises the
	exhibition of films.

for consumption

	T
Admission of children must be restricted in accordance with any recommendation made by the film classification body specified in the licence	
Or	
where the licensing authority has notified the holder of the licence that it considers a classification, or an alternative classification is necessary then admission of children must be restricted in accordance with any recommendation made by that licensing authority	
In this section-	
"children" means persons aged under 18; and	
"film classification body" means the person or persons designated as the authority under section 4 of the Video Recordings Act 1984 (c.39) (authority to determine suitability of video works for classification).	
Door Supervisors	
Where a premises licence includes a condition that at specified times one or more individuals must be at the premises to carry out a security activity, each such individual must be licensed by the Security Industry Authority.	Any premises licence or club premises certificate which includes a condition relating to door supervisors / security.

### Appendix B:

### **Local Authorities Bordering the Trafford Area:**

#### **Cheshire East Council**

Macclesfield Town Hall

Town Hall

Macclesfield

**SK10 1DP** 

Tel: 01625 504250

Email: licensing@cheshireeast.gov.uk

#### **Manchester City Council**

The Licensing Unit

Room 1012 (Level 1)

**Town Hall Extension** 

Manchester

M60 2LA

Tel: 0161 234 4917/4921

Email: premises.licensing@manchester.gov.uk

#### Salford City Council

**Licensing Section** 

Civic Centre

**Chorley Road** 

Swinton

Salford

M27 5DA

Tel: 0161 793 3114/3115

Email: licensing@salford.gov.uk

#### Stockport Borough Council

Environmental Health Section (Public Health Team)

Stopford House

Piccadilly

Stockport

SK13XE

Tel: None

Email: licensing@stockport.gov.uk

Warrington Borough Council

Chief Executive's Department

West Annexe

Town Hall

Warrington

WA1 1UH

Email: cexlicensing@warrington.gov.uk

## Appendix C: Licensing Act 2003 Model Conditions

#### **Counter Terrorism**

- 1. At all times that the premises are open to the public for licensable activities, all staff on-duty at the premises and all on-duty managers must have completed ACT: Awareness training. In addition, a minimum of 1 on-duty manager must also have completed the ACT: Operational or ACT: Strategic training.
- 2. The Designated Premises Supervisor must complete the ACT: Awareness training and ACT: Operational or ACT: Strategic training course within 28 days of the grant or variation of the licence. Should the Designated Premises Supervisor named on the licence change, the new Designated Premises Supervisor must complete those courses within 28 days of being named on the licence.
- 3. Within 28 days of the grant or variation of the licence, a documented security vulnerability assessment, which must incorporate counter terrorism measures, must be undertaken for the premises to include all areas in which licensable activities takes place and which the public will have access and/or transit through. The assessment shall be routinely reviewed and must be reviewed following the elevation of the change of the national threat level. All reviews shall be documented.
- 4. Within 28 days of the grant or variation of the licence, the premises licence holder shall evaluate any risks identified through the security vulnerability assessment and take promptly such steps to eliminate

- them or to reduce the risk as far as is reasonably practicable. A documented record must be maintained of any remedial action implemented and made available upon request to any police officer or an authorised officer of Manchester City Council.
- 5. Within 28 days of the grant or variation of the licence, the premises must have a documented counter-terrorism plan, which sets out counter measures to be implemented in response to a terrorist attack, through the principles of 'Guide', Shelter' and 'Communicate'-
  - Guide Direct people towards the most appropriate location (invacuation, evacuation, hide)
  - Shelter Understand how your place or space might be able to lock-down and shelter people within it for several hours
  - Communicate Have a means of communicating effectively and promptly with users of your place and have staff capable of giving clear instructions. Also have the capability of integrating with any response or rescue operation by providing things like building plans.

## Admission and control of entry

- 6. The designated queuing area shall be enclosed within appropriate barriers and ensure that a minimum width of 1.8m [or specify if greater] is maintained on the footway to allow safe passage by pedestrians.
- 7. An ID scanning system approved in writing by the licensing authority must be operated at the premises at all times it is open to the public. All persons entering the premises must provide verifiable ID and record their details on the system.

- 8. All persons entering or re-entering the premises must be searched by an SIA registered door supervisor [and all searches must be monitored by the premises CCTV system].
- 9. No patron shall be admitted or readmitted to the premises [after XX:XX hours] unless they have [passed through a metal detecting search arch] [been searched using hand-held electronic search wands] and, if the search equipment is activated, have been physically searched in accordance with a procedure agreed with Greater Manchester Police, which must include a 'pat down search' and a full bag search. Search equipment must be kept in working order.
- 10. No customer will be permitted to enter or re-enter the premises between the hours of [specify] save for persons who have temporarily left the premises (e.g. to smoke).
- 11. Between [specified times] no customer will be permitted to enter or leave the premises by means of [specified entrances].
- 12. No more than [insert number] customers will be permitted on the premises at any one time.
- 13. The premises licence holder shall ensure a suitable method of calculating the number of people present during licensable activities is in place.

## **Door supervisors**

14. Door supervision must be provided on (specify days / circumstance).

Door supervisors must be on duty from [specify hours] and must remain on duty until the premises are closed and all the customers have left.

- 15.On [specify days/hours], at least [insert number] of SIA registered door supervisors must be on duty at the premises [specify location at the premises] [or as shown on the plan].
- 16. Door supervisors shall be employed at the ratio of [XX] door supervisor for every 100 customers (or part thereof).
- 17. Door supervisors shall be employed by the premises based upon a risk assessment carried out in relation to the following factors:
  - (i) Size of the venue
  - (ii) Expected attendance
  - (iii) Type of event taking place
  - (iv) Location of the premises
  - (v) Time of year
  - (vi) Special occasion (New Year, Halloween, Local events etc.)
  - (vii) Premises Licence Conditions
- 18. At least [XX] female door supervisor(s) shall be on duty at the premises at such times as door supervisors are required to be provided.
- 19. All door supervisors, and other persons engaged at the premises for the purpose of supervising or controlling queues or customers, must wear [high visibility jackets or vests or armbands].
- 20. Any door supervisors on duty at the premises must be supplied by an SIA-Approved Contractor Scheme company.
- 21. The Designated Premises Supervisor or on-duty manager must ensure that all door supervisors on duty at the premises are correctly displaying their current SIA accreditation and are briefed on their responsibilities and relevant company operating procedures before they commence duty.

- 22. Door supervisors must be provided with radios to enable them to contact each other and the duty manager at the premises.
- 23. Where SIA registered door supervisors are used at the premises, a record must be kept of their SIA registration number and the dates and times when they are on duty.
- 24. Random searches shall be undertaken of customers entering the premises between the hours of [insert times] and prominent signage to this effect.
- 25.A metal detection device shall be randomly used by door supervisors to search patrons for weapons.
- 26.A search arch shall be used at the premises to detect customers who may be carrying weapons.
- 27. Bag clips shall be made available on the premises.

## **Bodycams**

- 28. On [specify days/hours], at least [insert number] of SIA registered door supervisors on duty at [specify location at the premises] [or as shown on the plan] must wear working body cams.
- 29. All body cams must:
  - (i) be activated by the wearer to record any incident of crime and disorder they witness;
  - (ii) provide a continuous recording loop designed to ensure that relevant information is still captured if the User is unable to immediately activate the recording;
  - (iii) produce an acceptable video recording under street lighting and inside buildings, including low-light conditions

- (iv) be overt, be pointed correctly to ensure best evidence is captured, and worn so that it will not be obscured by clothing;
- (v) be capable of clearly recording a conversation between the User and people in close proximity; and be optimised to record speech rather than background noise;
- (vi) record synchronised video and audio;
- (vii) employ a wide-angle lens that records a broad scene in full focus:
- (viii) be securely attached to avoid accidental loss and malicious removal
- (ix) be equipped with sufficient storage and battery capacity to cover the requirements of a working shift.
- (x) record in a format viewable in its original format using free software including VLC media player
- (xi) when transferred off the device, recordings should be preserved in their original format and any metadata retained
- (xii) must always show the correct time and date in video footage, for evidential continuity
- (xiii) be capable of still capturing video if the microphone malfunctions, and audio is still captured if the camera malfunctions.
- (xiv) not overwrite data once recording capacity is reached.
- 30.A record must be kept of the SIA registration number of the door supervisor and the ID of bodycam worn by them.
- 31. Bodycam images must be stored so that they are retrievable and accessible for replay and viewing, and kept in an environment that will not be detrimental to the quality or capacity for future viewing. They should be appropriately labelled to enable identification and retrieval and kept for a minimum of 28 days.

32. The premises licence holder must ensure there are members of trained staff at the premises during operating hours able to provide viewable copies on request to police or authorised local authority officers as soon as is reasonably practicable in accordance with the Data Protection Act 1998 (or any replacement legislation).

#### **CCTV**

- 33. The premises licence holder must ensure that:
  - (i) CCTV cameras are located within the premises to cover all public areas including all entrances and exits [The location of cameras could also be specified on the plan attached to the premises licence].
  - (ii) The system records clear images permitting the identification of individuals.
  - (iii) The CCTV system is able to capture a minimum of 24 frames per second and all recorded footage must be securely retained for a minimum of 28 days.
  - (iv) The CCTV system operates at all times while the premises are open for licensable activities [or specify timings].
  - (v) All equipment must have a constant and accurate time and date generation.
  - (vi) The CCTV system is fitted with security functions to prevent recordings being tampered with, i.e. password protected.
  - (vii) There are members of trained staff at the premises during operating hours able to provide viewable copies on request to police or authorised local authority officers as soon as is reasonably practicable in accordance with the Data Protection Act 1998 (or any replacement legislation).

(viii) A staff member from the premises who is conversant with the operation of the CCTV system shall be on the premises at all times when the premises are open. This staff member must be able to provide a police officer or authorised council officer copies of recent CCTV images or data with the minimum of delay when requested.

## Preventing illegal drug use

- 34. There shall be a lockable 'drugs box' at the premises to which no member of staff, except the DPS and/or [designated role-holder at business], shall have access. All controlled drugs (or items suspected to be, or, containing controlled drugs) found at the premises must be placed in this box as soon as practicable. Whenever this box is emptied, all its contents must be given to Greater Manchester Police for appropriate disposal.
- 35. The premises shall operate a zero-tolerance policy to drug use and posters shall be prominently displayed to this effect. All staff shall be trained in the implementation of the venue's drugs policy.
- 36. Toilet cisterns shall be provided with sloping lids or similar to discourage drug use.

## Promotional activity

- 37. The premises licence holder must submit to [insert contact details for Responsible Authority] a completed risk assessment form as prescribed at least 14 days before any event that is
  - (i) Promoted / advertised to the public at any time before the event;and

- (ii) Features DJ's, MC's or equivalent performing to a record backing track; and
- (iii) Runs anytime between the hours of [insert hours].
- 38. No promotional social media communication may be carried on for the purpose of encouraging the sale or supply of alcohol at the premises, which can reasonably be considered to condone, encourage or glamorise antisocial behaviour or to refer to the effects of drunkenness in any favourable manner.

## Incident reporting

- 39. An incident log (which may be electronically recorded) shall be kept at the premises for at least six months, and made available on request to the police or an authorised officer of the licensing authority, which will record the following incidents including pertinent details (delete as appropriate):
  - (i) All alleged crimes reported to the venue or by the venue to the police
  - (ii) All ejections of patrons
  - (iii) Any complaints received
  - (iv) Any incidents of disorder
  - (v) Seizures of drugs, offensive weapons, fraudulent ID or other items
  - (vi) Any faults in the CCTV system, searching equipment or scanning equipment
  - (vii) Any refusal of the sale of alcohol
  - (viii) Any faults in the CCTV system, searching equipment or scanning equipment
  - (ix) Any visit by a responsible authority or emergency service

(x) The times on duty, names and the licence numbers of all licensed door supervisors employed by the premises.

## Staff training (alcohol & vulnerability welfare)

- 40. All staff authorised to sell alcohol shall be trained in (delete as appropriate):
  - (i) Relevant age restrictions in respect of products
  - (ii) Prevent underage sales
  - (iii) Prevent proxy sales
  - (iv) Maintain the refusals log
  - (v) Enter sales correctly on the tills so the prompts show as appropriate
  - (vi) Recognising signs of drunkenness and vulnerability
  - (vii) How over-service of alcohol impacts on the four objectives of the Licensing Act 2003
  - (viii) How to refuse service
  - (ix) The premises' duty of care policy, understanding and dealing with situations involving vulnerable people, and incidents of harassment
  - (x) Action to be taken in the event of an emergency, including the preservation of a crime scene and reporting an incident to the emergency services
  - (xi) The conditions in force under this licence.
  - 41. Training must include evidence that the trainee has gained knowledge and understanding of the training, which may consist of a test or quiz, completed and signed by the trainee.

42. Documented records of training completed shall be kept for each member of staff. Training shall be regularly refreshed and at no greater than 6 [or specify] monthly intervals. Training records shall be made available for inspection upon request by a police officer or an authorised officer of Manchester City Council.

## Preventing and dealing with drunkenness and vulnerability

- The premises shall have a documented Duty of Care policy for managing intoxicated and vulnerable customers and dealing with incidents of harassment at the premises. The policy shall also include provision for persons refused entry to the premises who are also considered vulnerable by staff.
  - 44. The premises shall display prominent signage indicating [at any point of sale] [at the entrance to the premises] [in all areas where alcohol is located] that it is an offence to sell alcohol to anyone who is drunk.
  - 45.A Personal Licence Holder must be present at the premises to supervise all sales of alcohol.
  - 46. A minimum of [specify] persons must be employed and on duty at the premises between [specify days/hours] who are specifically tasked to maintain the safety of customers who may be vulnerable, ill or in distress as a result of alcohol and/or drug-related intoxication. Such persons must be trained on drunkenness, vulnerability, and drugs awareness in the night-time economy; and responding to these matters.
  - 47. The premises shall provide facilities for customers to securely recharge their mobile phones.

# Off Licences and reducing nuisance associated to illegal street drinking (Public Spaces Protection Order)

- 48. No sale of single cans of beer, lager or cider.
- 49. The premises will not sell any beer, lager, or cider that is equal to or greater than 6% ABV. For the avoidance of doubt, this does not include specialist products from craft microbreweries or limited edition / seasonal products (e.g. Christmas gift packs), subject to Police and Licensing Authority discretion.
- 50. All sealed containers of alcoholic drinks offered for sale for consumption off the premises must be clearly labelled or marked with the name and postcode of the premises.

## Glassware and use of ice fountains / bottle sparklers

- 51. Drinks must only be served in polycarbonate/plastic containers [on specified days or events] [upon reasonable notice by Greater Manchester Police].
- 52. Customers will not be permitted to remove from the premises any drinks supplied by the premises (alcoholic or otherwise) in open containers [except for consumption in any delineated external area as shown on the plan attached to the licence].
- 53. Spirit, Champagne and all other glass bottles greater than [70cl] are restricted to customers seated at a [table] [booth] in the delineated area[s] as shown on the plan attached to the licence. These bottles must be secured to the table or ice bucket and must only be dispensed

by a member of staff who is trained in the responsible service of alcohol. Customers must not be permitted to leave their table carrying any such bottle or be permitted to drink directly from the bottle.

54. Ice fountains or similar products (which are classed as HT4 explosives):

- a) Must be kept in their original packaging and only stored in a secure storeroom or fire-resistant cabinet that the public have no access to. The room/cabinet must be kept locked, except for the depositing or removal of products but must be locked immediately thereafter.
- b) Their use must be risk assessed in advance and appropriate control measure put in place to reduce the risk to staff and customers, which must include (but is not limited to):
  - (i) staff training in their safe use and dispersal
  - (ii) the provision of appropriate first aid training and equipment
  - (iii) suitability of areas of the premises where the products will be used
- c) The risk assessment and control measures identified must be documented, kept on the premises and made available for inspection to a police officer, fire or other authorised officer upon request.

## Preventing underage sales

55. The Challenge [25] scheme must be operated to ensure that any person who appears to be under the age of [25] shall provide documented proof that he/she is over 18 years of age. Proof of age shall only comprise a passport, photo card driving licence, an EU/EEA

- national ID card or similar document, an HM Forces warrant card, a card bearing the PASS hologram, or any electronic or biometric age verification technology approved by the licensing authority.
- 56. The premises shall display prominent signage indicating [at any point of sale] [at the entrance to the premises] [in all areas where alcohol is located] that the Challenge [25] scheme is in operation.
- 57. The premises shall display prominent signage indicating [at any point of sale] [at the entrance to the premises] [in all areas where alcohol is located] that it is an offence to buy or attempt to buy alcohol for a person who is under 18 and for a person under the age of 18 to buy or attempt to buy alcohol.
- 58. A refusals record must be kept at the premises which details all refusals to sell alcohol. This record must include the date and time of the incident, a description of the customer, the name of the staff member who refused the sale, and the reason the sale was refused. All entries must be made within 24 hours of the refusal. The record must be made available for inspection and copying within [specify days / hours or a reasonable time] of a request by an officer of a Responsible Authority.

#### Alcohol deliveries

- 59. The premises licence holder shall provide the following information in writing to the licensing authority before any sale of alcohol is carried out (and notify change to this information to the licensing authority within 7 days):
  - (i) The trading name of any company that will operate under the licence
  - (ii) All telephone numbers that will be used to accept orders

- (iii) The URL/website address that will be used to accept orders.
- of the business operating under this licence will clearly state the premises licence number. For the avoidance of doubt, this includes flyers, leaflets and business cards promoting the business.
- 61. All deliveries of alcohol shall only be delivered to a premises address with a valid postcode and will only be delivered directly to that property.

## Restaurants and takeaways (alcohol)

- 62. The premises must only operate as a restaurant:
  - (i) in which customers are seated at a table,
  - (ii) which provides food in the form of substantial table meals that are prepared on the premises and are served and consumed at the table using non-disposable crockery,
  - (iii) which do not provide any takeaway service of food or drink for immediate consumption, and
  - (iv) where alcohol must not be sold, supplied, or consumed on the premises otherwise than to persons who are taking substantial table meals and provided always that the consumption of alcohol by such persons is ancillary to taking such meals.
- 63. Sales of alcohol for consumption off the premises shall only be supplied with, and ancillary to, a takeaway meal.

# Restricting alcohol sales in relation to designated special events, e.g. football matches

- 64. Prior to any [designated special event by Greater Manchester Police]
  ['designated sporting event' (as defined in the Sporting Events Control of Alcohol Act 1985)] the premises licence holder shall ensure that:
  - (i) Alcohol sales in respect of cans of beer or cider are limited to no more than four cans per person for a minimum of four hours before the commencement of the relevant designated [special] [sporting] event
  - (ii) No sales of alcohol in bottles or glass containers are made in the period four hours before the commencement of the designated [special] [sporting] event
  - (iii) Alcohol sales cease for a period of one hour immediately before the commencement of the relevant designated [special][sporting] event
  - (iv) On any day where there is a relevant designated [special] [sporting] event taking place, the premises will not externally advertise as a result of a local store promotion the availability of beer or cider in such a way as to be likely to be the sole inducement to attract persons to the premises who are either attending the designated [special] [sporting] event or in the vicinity of the premises as a result of the designated [special] [sporting] event
  - (v) All members of staff working at the premises are informed of this condition prior to taking up employment
  - (vi) On the day of the relevant designated [special] [sporting] event, upon the direction of a police officer, using the grounds of the

prevention of crime and disorder or public safety, the premises will immediately cease to sell alcohol until further directed.

## Use of special effects

- 65. Any special effects or mechanical installations shall be arranged and stored so as to minimise any risk to the safety of those using the premises. The following special effects will only be used if 10 days' prior notice is given to the licensing authority where consent has not previously been given:
  - (i) Dry ice and cryogenic fog
  - (ii) Smoke machines and fog generators
  - (iii) Pyrotechnics, including fireworks
  - (iv) Firearms (e.g. Blank firing pistols)
  - (v) Lasers
  - (vi) Explosives and highly flammable substances
  - (vii) Real flame
  - (viii) Strobe lighting.

## **Emergencies**

- 66. The premises licence holder shall ensure that at all times when the public is present there is at least one competent person able to administer first aid, that an adequate and appropriate supply of first aid equipment and materials is available on the premises, and that adequate records are maintained in relation to the supply of any first aid treatment.
- 67. All external emergency exit doors shall be fitted with sensor alarms and visible indicators to alert staff when the doors have been opened.

- 68. All staff on duty at the premises shall be trained in the Emergency and Evacuation procedures for the premises and aware of their individual responsibilities. This includes any door supervisors. Documented records of training completed shall be kept for each member of staff. Training shall be regularly refreshed and at no greater than [specify] monthly intervals. Training records shall be made available for inspection upon request by a police officer or an authorised officer of Trafford Council.
- 69. The premises shall have a minimum 20m rescue throwline available on the premises for emergency use. All on-duty staff (including security) shall be knowledgeable of its location and the manufacturer's instructions for use.

## Preventing noise and other public nuisances

- 70. All external windows and doors must be kept shut at all times when regulated entertainment is being provided. Doors may be opened for normal entrance and egress of people but must be shut immediately thereafter.
- 71. No noise shall emanate from the premises nor vibration be transmitted through the structure of the premises that gives rise to a nuisance.
- 72. A noise limiting device must be installed and must operate at all times regulated entertainment takes place at the premises. The device must be of a type, in a location and set at a level [specify if known] [approved in writing by the appropriate officer of the Council]. Only the Premises Licence Holder and the Designated Premises Supervisor will have access to the noise limiting device.

- 73. The location and orientation of loudspeakers must be as specified on the attached premises plan.
- 74. An [acoustic lobby / acoustic door / acoustic curtains/ acoustic door seals / automatic door closer] must be installed [specify the location / define on plan].
- 75. There shall be no noise or odour caused by the kitchen extraction equipment that gives rise to a nuisance.
- 76. Any queue in a (designated queuing area) to enter the premises must be supervised at all times by door supervisors.
- 77. Between [specified times] no customer will be permitted to enter or leave the premises by means of [specified entrances].
- 78. The dispersal of customers from the premises must be managed in accordance with the following:
  - a. Clear and legible notices must be prominently displayed at all exits requesting customers to respect local residents and leave the area quietly.
  - Public announcements requesting customers to leave quietly to minimize disturbance to nearby residents
  - c. A [specify minutes] period where music volume is reduced / lighting increased / alcohol sales cease.

## Deliveries (nuisance)

79. A direct telephone number for the duty manager must be prominently displayed where it can conveniently be read from the exterior of the

- premises by the public. The telephone must be manned at all times the premises is open for licensable activities.
- 80. No deliveries or collections relating to licensable activities at the premises will take place between the hours of [insert hours].
- 81. Delivery drivers shall conduct the delivery in a manner that will not cause a noise disturbance to the occupiers of any residential properties surrounding the delivery address. This includes the avoidance of slamming doors, playing loud music, shouting, over-revving engines and sounding horns to signal their arrival. The driver shall turn the engine off immediately upon arrival at the delivery address and will park considerately without causing any obstruction to the highway.
- 82. Customers must be instructed when placing the order that they will not be able to collect the order from the vehicle. All deliveries will only be made directly to the property address and customers will not be permitted to take orders from the vehicle.

## Smoking and other external areas

- 83. Customers permitted to temporarily leave and then re-enter the premises to smoke must be restricted to a designated smoking area defined as [specify location / mark on plan]. No more than [insert number] of customers will be permitted to remain in the designated smoking area at any one time.
- 84. Clear and legible notices must be prominently displayed at any area used for smoking requesting customers to respect the needs of local residents and use the area quietly.

- 85. No more than *[insert number]* customers will be permitted to enter or remain in [define outdoor area(s)] of the premises at any one time, between the hours of [specify].
- 86. The tables and chairs outside the premises shall be brought inside at [insert time]
- 87. Staff shall regularly supervise the pavement area outside the premises to ensure customers are not blocking pavements or causing nuisance to neighbouring premises.
- 88. The use of the garden/external area shall cease after (insert time) hours on (insert days of the week)
- 89. A direct telephone number for the duty manager must be prominently displayed where it can conveniently be read from the exterior of the premises by the public. The telephone must be manned at all times the premises is open for licensable activities.

## Litter and cleansing

- 90. At [specify times] [specify areas] outside the premises, including [specify areas] must be swept and/or washed, and litter and sweepings collected and stored [specify storage and collection].
- 91. All takeaway packaging and wrappers shall clearly identify the premises, i.e. by way of company logo or name.
- 92. Where the premises provide late night refreshments for consumption off the premises sufficient waste bins must be provided at or near the exits, to enable the disposal of waste.
- 93. Empty bottles which have been collected must be placed into locked bins when deposited outside.

- 94. All waste shall be properly presented and placed out for collection no earlier than 30 minutes before the scheduled collection times.
- 95. Between the hours of [insert hours] no waste/glass bottles will be moved or deposited outside.
- 96. Persons wishing to leave the premises to smoke shall not be permitted to take drinks outside with them.

## Children on the premises

- 97. No person under the age of [insert age] years of age is permitted to enter or remain on the licensed premises when alcohol is being sold or supplied.
- 98. The PLH/DPS will provide [specify ratio] adult supervisors at a ratio of [specify ratio] who can provide care for the children as they move from stage to dressing room etc., and to ensure that all children can be accounted for in case of an evacuation or an emergency.
- 99. The licence holder and/or DPS shall ensure that any child performer is licensed with Trafford Council and accompanied by a registered chaperone. Documented records should be kept for six months, including the child's name, their licence number and chaperone details.
- 100. Where children are allowed on the premises, information shall be displayed [location] on what to do if there is a cause for concern regarding a child's welfare. This shall include reporting to Trafford Council via on 0161 912 4242 or <a href="mailto:licensing@trafford.gov.uk">licensing@trafford.gov.uk</a> or NSPCC on 0808 800 5000 (free 24-hour service) or dialling 999 in the event of an immediate threat.

### Late night refreshment

- 101. Any hot food or hot drink provided after 11pm (late night refreshment) under this licence must only be consumed on the premises.
- 102. Between [specify hours from 11pm/days] customers must not be permitted to remove from the premises any hot food or hot drink (late night refreshment) provided at the premises.

### Large events

103. The Premises licence Holder must comply with the Event

Management Plan submitted to and approved by the Licensing

Authority and no changes will be made to the Event Management Plan

without the prior written consent of the Licensing Authority.

## Boxing and wrestling (including MMA and other combat sports)

- 104. The Premises licence Holder must comply with the Event
  Management Plan submitted to and approved by the Licensing
  Authority and no changes will be made to the Event Management Plan
  without the prior written consent of the Licensing Authority. The Plan
  must set out (but is not limited to):
  - (i) Full contact details of the organisers and other parties involved in the event.
  - (ii) The medical cover that will be provided at this event. Will there be a Registered Doctor and a Paramedic will be provided as a minimum? Has facility to providing an ambulance been considered for the event? The Council would prefer that an ambulance is provided.

- (iii) The medical checks that will be carried out on the boxers before and after the fight. The Council would expect all boxers taking part to have a medical card and competition record book. This should detail previous bouts, medical history etc.
- (iv) How boxers will be matched up for the event. All boxers will be expected to be evenly matched and fall in the same weight category.
- (v) Details of the ring set up and who will be carrying this out.
- (vi) The numbers of referees and judges taking part in the event.
- (vii) The type and weight of boxing gloves that will be used by the boxers and how these will be inspected.
- (viii) What will be the safety rules for the fight and how these rules will be communicated to the boxers, coaches, trainers and other relevant parties.
- (ix) Details of the Personal Protective Equipment that will be worn by boxers.
- (x) Actions that will be taken in an emergency and how parties will communicate.
- (xi) Site checks that will be completed prior to the event taking place.
- (xii) Referee details including qualifications.

### Adult entertainment

- 105. The premises may not show R18 films without the benefit of a sex cinema licence.
- 106. No person under the age of 18 will be permitted to enter or remain on the premises when any "relevant entertainment" (as defined in Schedule 3 to the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 is taking place.

For reference:

Relevant entertainment is 'Any live performance or any live display of nudity, which is of such a nature that, ignoring financial gain, it must reasonably be assumed to be provided solely or principally for the purpose of sexually stimulating any member of the audience (whether by verbal or other means).

Display of nudity means in the case of a women - exposure of her nipples, pubic area, genitals or anus; and in the case of a man - exposure of his pubic area, genitals or anus.

The audience can consist of one person.

## **Dispersal**

- 107. The dispersal of customers from the premises must be managed in accordance with the following:
  - (i) Clear and legible notices must be prominently displayed at all exits requesting customers to respect local residents and leave the area quietly.
  - (ii) Public announcements requesting customers to leave quietly to minimise disturbance to nearby residents.
  - (iii) A [specify minutes] period where [music volume is reduced / lighting increased / alcohol sales cease].
  - (iv) A suitable member of staff or a Door Supervisor[s] will be visible at each public entrance / exit to control the dispersal, to remind people to leave quietly, and to prevent patrons from re-entering the premises, and shall deter customers from using private hire vehicles without a prior booking
  - (v) All drinks and glass vessels must be removed from patrons as they leave to ensure no glass leaves the premises.
- 108. From no later than 1 hour before the premises closes to the public, a member of staff shall be dedicated to monitor the dispersal of

customers and ensure patrons do not contribute to anti-social behaviour in the vicinity. They will be easily identifiable by way of their uniform or high visibility jacket / vest; will have a detailed knowledge of all transport options in the area and provide directions for patrons who may be loitering in the vicinity of the premises.

## Appendix D: Scheme of Delegations

Matter to be dealt with	Full Council	Licensing Panel	Officer
Review of Statement of Licensing Policy, receipt of annual report and other relevant reports.	In all Cases		
Application for a personal licence		If a representation is made.	If no representations are made.
Application for a premises licence or a club premises certificate			If no representations are made.
Application to vary an existing premises licence or club premises certificate		If a representation is made.	If no representations are made.
Application for minor variation of a premises licence or club premises certificate			In all cases.

	If a Police representation	All other
premises supervisor (DPS)	is received	cases
Requests to be removed as DPS		All cases
Application for transfer of a personal licence	If a Police representation	All other cases

		All other
Application for interim authorities	If a Police representation	cases
Applications to review premises licences and club premises certificates	All cases	
Decisions on whether a complaint is irrelevant, frivolous or vexatious etc.		All cases
Determination of a Police representation to a Temporary Event Notice	All Cases	

All applications will be considered in accordance with any statutory framework. Applications will only be accepted if they contain all required information and have been correctly made. Any application that falls short of the requirements will be returned to the applicant for correction or addition.

## Appendix E: Responsible Authorities

#### **Environmental Health Team**

**Regulatory Services** 

**Trafford Council** 

Trafford Town Hall

**Talbot Road** 

Stretford

M32 0TH

Tel: 0161 912 4916

Email: environmental.heath@trafford.gov.uk

#### Pollution & Housing Team

**Regulatory Services** 

**Trafford Council** 

Trafford Town hall

Stretford

M32 0TH

Tel: 0161 912 4916

Email: environmental.protection@trafford.gov.uk

#### **Planning Service**

**Trafford Council** 

PO Box 96

Sale

Cheshire

Tel: 0161 912 3149

Email: development.management@trafford.gov.uk

#### Safeguarding Children Unit

Children and Young People's Service

Trafford Town Hall

Talbot Road

Stretford

M32 0TH

Tel: 0161 912 4009

Email: SafeguardingChildrenTeam@trafford.gov.uk

#### **Greater Manchester Police**

The Chief Superintendent

Stretford Police Station

**Talbot Road** 

Stretford

M32 0XB

Tel: 0161 856 7869

Email: Karen.Packer@gmp.police.uk

Email: Trafford.PartnershipTeam@gmp.police.uk

#### **Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Service**

The Fire Safety Manager

Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Service

Stretford Fire Station

246 Park Road

Stretford

M32 8RJ

Tel. 0161 608 9210

Email: P&PAdminTeamSalford&@manchesterfire.gov.uk

#### Health & Safety Executive - North West Office

**Grove House** 

Skerton Road

Manchester

M16 0RB

Tel: 0161 952 8200

#### Public Health Authority

Children, Families and Wellbeing Directorate

**Trafford Council** 

Trafford Town Hall

**Talbot Road** 

Stretford

Manchester

 $M32~0^{TH}$ 

Tel: 0161 912 1936

Email: Eleanor.Roaf@trafford.gov.uk

#### **Environment Agency - North West Office**

**Appleton House** 

430 Birchwood Boulevard

Birchwood

Warrington

WA3 7WD

Tel: 08708 506 506

Email: enquiries@environment-agency.gov.uk

#### British Waterways Board - North West Office

Trafalgar House

**Temple Court** 

**Birchwood** 

Warrington

WA3 6GD

Tel: 01925 847700

#### Secretary of State for Transport

**Enquiry Service** 

Department of Transport

**Great Minster House** 

76 Marsham Street

London

SW1P 4DR

Tel: 020 7219 8497

Email: shappsg@parliament.uk

## Appendix F: Policy Consultation List

Adam Geoffrey Management

Altrincham and Bowdon Civic Society

Altrincham Football Club (Grahame Prowley)

Altrincham Town Centre Partnership

Altrincham Unlimited

Amblehurst Hotel, Sale

Asda

**B&M Stores** 

Blake Morgan Solicitors

British Beer & Pub Association

British Institute of Innkeeping

British Retail Consortium

**British Transport Police** 

Burger King UK Limited

Campaign for Real Ale

Church of Christ Stretford

Church of England(Sale)

Co-operative Group Food Limited

Cresta Court Hotel, Altrincham

**DAC Beachcroft Solicitors** 

**David Lloyd Leisure** 

**DWF Solicitors** 

Enterprise Inns

Environment Agency - North West Office

Filmbank

Flint Bishop Solicitors

Ford & Warren Solicitors

Freeths Solicitors

Gosschalk Solicitors

Greater Manchester Chamber of Commerce

Greater Manchester Fire & Rescue Service

**Greater Manchester Police** 

Greene King

Harrison Clark Rickerbys Solicitors

**Hydes Brewery Limited** 

J D Wetherspoons

J W Lees & Co Brewers Limited

Jewish Representative Council

John Gaunt Solicitors

Joseph Holt Limited

**Kuits Solicitors** 

L R Law Solicitors

Lancashire County Cricket Club

Licensing Legal Solicitors

**Licensing Matters Solicitors** 

**Local Government Association** 

Lockett & Co Solicitors

Manchester United Football Club

Marks & Spencer plc

Marstons Brewery

Martin & McColls

Mitchells & Butler Leisure Retail Limited

Napthens Solicitors

One Stop Stores

**Punch Taverns Limited** 

**Quality Save** 

Safer Trafford Partnership

Sainsbury's plc

Salvation Army – North West

Secretary of State for Transport

**Shoosmiths Solicitors** 

Spar (UK) Limited

**Tesco Stores Limited** 

The Magistrates Association

The National Trust

**TLT LLP Solicitors** 

Trafford Arts Association

**Trafford Housing Trust** 

**Trethowans Solicitors** 

UCI (UK) Limited

United Co-operative Limited

**VUE Cinemas** 

Warrington Borough Council

Winckworth Sherwood Solicitors

Wolverhampton & Dudley Breweries plc

Woods Whur Solicitors

Association of Convenience Stores

Association of Licensed Multiple Retailers

Association of Town Centre Managers

**Buddhist Centre** 

Federation of Licensed Victuallers Associations

**Greater Manchester Churches Together** 

Greater Manchester Passenger Transport Executive

InnCourt Licensing Consultants

Jacqueline Foster MEP

Julie Ward MEP

Louise Bours
Steven Woolfe MEP
Theresa Griffin MEP
Trafford Primary Care Trust
National Association of Head Teachers
National Consumer Federation
North West Waterways – Canal & River Trust
Paul Nuttal MEP
Sajjad Karim MEP
NCM 2000
Restaurant Association

### Council consultees

Equality & Diversity Manager
Strategic Manager Culture & Sport
All Councillors
Head of Partnerships & Communities
Planning
Director of Public Health
Strategic Manager Crime & Antisocial Behaviour
Trading Standards Team
Environmental Health Team
Environmental Protection Team
Director of All Age Commissioning
NHS Trafford Clinical Commissioning Group
Safeguarding Children
NHS Trafford Clinical Commissioning Group

## **Bordering authorities**

Cheshire East Council
Salford City Council
Manchester City Council
Warrington Borough Council
Stockport Borough Council